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The Chairperson: Today, we are considering the C&AG's report on the PSNI's use of agency staff.  
Does any member want to declare an interest? 
 
Mr McKay: I declare an interest as a past member of the Policing Board. 
 
Mr S Anderson: I have relatives who are serving with the PSNI and others who were members of the 
RUC. 
 
Mr Copeland: I am a past member of the Policing Board, and I have family members who are serving 
in the PSNI, as well as those who used to serve in the Royal Ulster Constabulary. 
 
The Chairperson: Last week, I stated that I was taking advice on a potential interest.  I have been 
advised that I do not need either to put the interest on record or to withdraw from proceedings.  
However, to avoid any misunderstanding, and having discussed this with you last week, I declare that 
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I was involved in a court case in 1997 with the then RUC.  That does not have a bearing on this 
meeting or its content, which concerns the hiring of agency staff.   
 
I also declare an interest as a former chairperson of the Strabane Community Safety Partnership and 
as a former member of the Strabane District Policing Partnership. 
 
Today's session may be long.  If members are content, halfway through the questioning, we will take a 
10-minute comfort break. 
 
Mr Nick Perry, who is the accounting officer for the Department of Justice (DOJ), is here to respond to 
the Committee.  You are very welcome, and I invite you to introduce your team. 

 
Mr Nick Perry (Department of Justice): Thank you very much.  With me are Chief Constable Matt 
Baggott, Deputy Chief Constable Judith Gillespie and the chief executive of the Policing Board, Sam 
Pollock. 
 
The Chairperson: A chairde, tá fáilte romhaibh inniu.  Friends and invited guests, I welcome you all 
here today on behalf of the Public Accounts Committee.  I thank those who have been specially invited 
to give evidence:  the PSNI Chief Constable, Mr Matt Baggott; Deputy Chief Constable, Judith 
Gillespie; the chief executive of the Policing Board, Mr Sam Pollock; and the permanent secretary of 
the Department of Justice, Mr Nick Perry.  The Committee is also very pleased to have the 
Comptroller and Auditor General, Kieran Donnelly, and his team here. 
 
To provide a background to this evidence session, I will refer to the vision that was set out by the 
Independent Commission on Policing.  The Patten report made it clear that it was in the interest of 
financial accountability that the Chief Constable and others be called before this Committee to give 
evidence.  The Patten report also set out the powers and the purpose of the Policing Board in the 
discharge of its legal duty to hold the police and the Chief Constable to account.  I know that members 
of the Policing Board met with the Chief Constable last week, and they will meet again tomorrow. 
 
As Chair of the Committee, I acknowledge the co-operative approach shown by the Policing Board in 
the discharge of its duties, in which it has respected the remit of the Public Accounts Committee.  It is 
vital that we foster public confidence and that all these institutions can be shown to function effectively 
and, when needed, collectively.  For that reason, I am especially pleased to note the Comptroller and 
Auditor General's role. 
 
The Patten report foresaw a special role for the Audit Office in the accountability framework.  Essential 
to the new beginning to policing, recommendations 26 and 42 specifically referred to the Audit Office's 
expertise in ensuring accountable policing.  That is why I welcome the Comptroller and Auditor 
General's report. 
 
Members of the Committee will table questions on the report, but before that, I will comment briefly on 
the premise for the Audit Office report and the related public interest.  As the Comptroller and Auditor 
General set out in paragraph 1.2 of the report, the Patten report said: 

 
"it was 'essential that the police service should be representative of the society it polices'". 

 
To that end, a package of special measures was introduced, underpinned by huge public investment.  
Achieving a representative policing service required changes in the composition of not only police 
officers but the civilian staff.  In fact, the Patten report stipulated that urgent steps be taken to secure a 
distribution that reflected the religious balance in the civilian workforce.  In paragraph 14.13, the 
proposals for change are made clear: 
 

"It is important that the same principle of a balanced and representative workforce should also 
apply to the civilian staff.  It would be illogical to argue for diversity in the officer ranks while leaving 
the civilian staff unchanged — especially if many jobs now held by officers are to be progressively 
civilianised." 

 
On that basis, the public were asked to invest faith and funding in creating the basis for a new 
beginning to policing.  As an MLA, signed up to the Good Friday Agreement and Patten, I believe that 
that faith has been abused and that funding has been misused.  The public deserve to know when, 
how and why this has happened, and who is responsible. 
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To me, this report reveals two conflicting cultures in the PSNI:  those who are committed to public 
service versus those who are engaged in self-service.  I hope that today provides us with some 
answers to those questions and the many questions of the Committee. 
 
This is my final thought as I open today's proceedings.  Recommendation 37 of the Patten report 
states: 

 
"The police service should take steps to improve its transparency.  The presumption should be that 
everything should be available for public scrutiny unless it is in the public interest — not the police 
interest — to hold it back." 

 
Much of the information that is in this report has taken a long time to come before the public, so it will 
be important to discover why it was held back.  In whose interest was that?  Was it in the police 
interest, the public interest or some other interest?  Why were we kept in the dark about it?  
Accountability and affordability are the two sides of one coin:  public services that are not accountable 
and affordable. 
 
Thank you for your patience and time. 
 
I will lead in to my questioning of Mr Perry.  Mr Perry, you are quite welcome here today again.  I want 
to start by saying that the report is quite startling.  It certainly raises a lot of questions that need to be 
answered.  Almost 40% of all temporary workers were former police officers.  On average, they were 
employed for much longer than temps who were not former police officers.  In all, nearly 20% of 
Patten retirees were re-employed by the PSNI as temporary staff.  Do you agree that that situation 
was out of control at the time? 

 
Mr Perry: I will start by saying that the Department welcomes this very thorough Audit Office report.  
As the Chief Constable has said elsewhere, there are lessons here not just for the PSNI but for the 
Department. 
 
Of course, I welcome the report's confirmation that the use of temporary staff was both necessary and 
represented value for money.  The specifics of which staff were recruited to those roles and where 
they were deployed were an operational matter for the PSNI, overseen by the board.  Perhaps I could 
put that into context for a couple of minutes. 
 
The report has identified some governance weaknesses.  I believe that those weaknesses have been 
addressed since devolution and that stronger arrangements are now in place.  From the Department's 
perspective, we, of course, accept all the report's recommendations. 
 
As you said, Chair, governance is somewhat complex in this area because of the dual accountability 
arrangements.  For almost all policing matters, as you say, the Chief Constable is responsible to the 
Policing Board, but as accounting officer, he has a responsibility to the departmental accounting 
officer.   
 
The governance framework attempts to align those responsibilities in the following way.  The 
Department seeks to assure itself that the overall use of resources is appropriate at a strategic level.  
The management statement sets out the levels of delegation to the Chief Constable, and the 
Department looks at certain business cases under those delegations.  However, the detail of 
implementation is left to the PSNI, overseen by the Policing Board, to avoid the Department 
encroaching on the Chief Constable's operational responsibility or cutting across the board's statutory 
responsibilities to hold the police to account.   
 
So, there have been a number of changes to governance arrangements that I can talk about as we go 
through.  I think that we are in a better place than we were in 2004, certainly, and we are, indeed, 
better than we were in 2008 and 2009.  Overall, the governance structures over this period worked 
well in view of, as you mentioned, the huge investment in policing and the transformational change 
that was delivered over the period. 
 
There are some particular issues in this report that did not go as they should have, and I hope that 
they have now been put right. 

 
The Chairperson: Thank you, Mr Perry.  You said that it worked well but not in every quarter.  Why 
did it take so long to get a grip on this issue? 
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Mr Perry: I think that the particular issue of the use of temporary staff in the police has been a matter 
of discussion between the police and the Policing Board right back to 2001 and 2002 and certainly 
throughout this period.  That was the governance arrangements working as they should.  The mix of 
staff that the Chief Constable uses to achieve his objectives is an operational matter for him, overseen 
by the board.  It is not a matter in which the Department should involve itself directly. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Perry, it is obviously cheaper to employ civilians on short-term assignments.  
That was felt at the time.  Why has the PSNI not moved to civilianise more posts until now? 
 
Mr Perry: The Chief Constable is better placed to answer that. 
 
Chief Constable Matt Baggott (Police Service of Northern Ireland): It would be helpful if I said a 
few words at the beginning, if that is acceptable.  First, we welcome the report.  We invited it and have 
fully co-operated with it, and you have my absolute assurance that it will be used wisely, with the 
Policing Board, as an opportunity to further improve our governance, oversight and value for money.  
We have accepted all the recommendations fully, and they will be the subject of continual scrutiny by 
the Policing Board and our internal audit committee, which comprises representatives from all the 
relevant agencies and departments.  
 
I am pleased that the report notes significant progress over the past two years.  That is a 
consequence of our tight governance but also of the fact that, since the devolution of policing and 
justice, the whole framework within which we are able to plan and use our resources has changed 
significantly.  We are now in a four-year planning cycle with clear medium-term resource plans and 
efficiency plans, and because of that, we are able to profile and predict the numbers that we need with 
a far greater degree of clarity.   
 
I was not here pre-2009 during those enormous years of churn, where something like 8,000 police 
officers left the organisation alongside the existence of a whole range of budgetary constraints, 
particularly the 2007 comprehensive spending review.  That was not so easy or predictable.  That 
said, I think that it is right that I am straightforward about what I said last week.  I think that the public 
concern on this issue is a product of two things:  first, far more inclusive oversight arrangements; and 
secondly, a far greater degree of scrutiny being applied by the Policing Board.  I said several months 
ago in public that when we became aware of that public concern, to some degree, the lack of control 
over the returning of former police officers did not feel good.  That is different from saying that there 
are not occasions when it was fully justified, and we will go into that in some detail.   
 
However, first, there was an issue for me about the spirit of Patten, and I am very mindful that we 
could have paid more attention to that.  Secondly, the report is very clear that, in 2007, the corporate 
grip on the numbers returning needed to be tightened.  That comment was made in an internal PSNI 
report and was not something that was done to the PSNI.  There were reasons for that, some of which 
rest in the Patten recommendations, which talk about a very highly devolved structure, with people 
being responsible totally for budgets and salaries and predicting what needed to be done.  I think that 
we could have had a tighter grip in 2007, and I have been very open about that, in spite of the 
consequences.  As you said at the beginning, Chair, there is an issue of accountability.  Some of that 
is a reflection of what now needs to be done to raise public confidence in the Policing Board's role.  
We are having conversations with the board about that at the moment.  However, there is an issue 
with individuals coming back to work for the organisation and their accountability to the ombudsman 
and to oversight arrangements.  I have to give credit to the Policing Board on that in that the questions 
that it asked about that are ahead of the rest of the United Kingdom.  There has been a bigger debate 
with the return of G4S and other big companies taking over policing functions, and as we enter a 
recession, those questions are now being asked by other people about other police forces.  So, they 
have been ahead of the game on that. 
 
I mentioned understanding the consequence in the context of the spirit of Patten.  The corporate grip 
in 2007 on the numbers coming back, the need to have a tighter central oversight of that and 
accountability were issues.  It is very helpful to look at a perspective from the pre-devolution of policing 
and justice and the post-devolution of policing and justice, where we are into four-year planning, 
coming off rigid 7,500 establishment numbers and where we are able to profile our workforce to far 
greater effect. 

 
The Chairperson: Thank you, Mr Baggott.  To go back to your remarks about paying more attention 
to Patten, I am sure that members around this table today will agree with me that that should have 
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been set in stone.  No matter who was responsible, Patten should have been about everybody paying 
attention to detail.  Given what you just said, why are so many back-office roles still being performed 
by police officers under your watch? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Thanks for that.  The report talks about significant improvements, very 
tight governance and justification.  I think that the issue here is justification.  The report is clear about 
the use of temporary staff with uncertain financial futures where short-term pieces of work were 
concerned and where there were employment constraints in refusing employment to people who have 
a right to apply for jobs.  We have very tight governance now.  We have an oversight of corporate risk, 
which relates to a forum that my deputy called the resource to risk forum, where we look at the whole 
resource distribution.  We have a resourcing forum where every single temporary post is analysed and 
justified.  We have monthly reports to the Policing Board on the numbers of temporary staff and the 
costs that are involved in that.  Therefore, overall, the sheer oversight of this has improved 
significantly, and rightly so.  However, the report is also very clear that there is a justification and a 
need for temporary staff, particularly given that I cannot predict where the next comprehensive 
spending review is going to go.  There is undoubtedly a need to bring back some policing skills, 
although they have to be absolutely held accountable to the ombudsman in the same way as their 
regular colleagues, and they have to be subject to that constraint.   
 
There are short-term pieces of work and projects that need to be fulfilled, such as supporting the 
coroner and others.  So, the issue for me is not about the legitimacy of temporary staff or the return of 
some policing skills.  We would not be able to break employment law on this, but there are several 
questions to be asked.  First, can every single post be justified and stood over?  Secondly, are there 
separate audit facilities to make sure that that is justified?  Finally, is the Policing Board fully involved 
in that? 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Judith Gillespie (Police Service of Northern Ireland): If I may add to that, 
Chair, it is the vision of the service executive team of the Police Service of Northern Ireland that we 
should be as representative as possible of the community that we police.  That representation is about 
not just the officers who wear the PSNI uniform but the staff who work in support functions as 
temporary staff and as part of the managed service contract that is, rightly, undergoing scrutiny by the 
board.  We would ideally like to get into a broader strategic conversation with the Policing Board and 
the Equality Commission that would involve a review of our whole human resource strategy, involving 
permanent police officers, permanent police staff, managed services and temporary staff.  We would 
take whatever recommendations might come out of that review seriously and take them forward so 
that we are seen not just to comply with the spirit of equality legislation but to commit to it.  We would 
welcome that conversation on a broader level, and we would welcome taking time to do it with the 
Policing Board. 
 
The Chairperson: That brings me to my next point.  I am glad that you raised the equality issues and 
the conversation that needs to be had with the Equality Commission.  I think that that conversation is 
long overdue; it should have happened a long time ago.   
 
I see from the report that the PSNI has never carried out an equality impact assessment (EQIA) on the 
use of temporary staff.  Why has that not happened? 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: With the benefit of hindsight, we absolutely concede that we 
ought to have screened the policy of the use of temporary staff and, depending on the outcome of that 
screening, conducted a full equality impact assessment.  Unfortunately, in 2012, we cannot fix that, 
given that it related to what happened between 2001 and 2011.  However, we can fix it going forward.  
We are absolutely up for that conversation.  I can say that, as an organisation, PSNI has been 
breaking new ground with its equality, diversity and good relations strategy.  We are the first public 
sector organisation to have an integrated equality, diversity and good relations strategy, which the 
Equality Commission approved just recently.  So, we are showing that we are prepared to go the 
second mile in this area and not just to comply with the legislation but to utterly commit to it.  We would 
welcome that broader conversation.  We cannot put right what happened in the past, but we can 
certainly deal with it now and work going forward. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I absolutely 100% endorse what my deputy has said.  Some of this 
requires us to be legally audacious.  There are constraints in what we can and cannot do.  I know that 
nobody would expect us to break the law, but we are prepared to take risks on this for the greater 
good.  Public confidence in our workforce mix, learning how we might improve that and navigating our 
way around some of the constraints is really important.  Therefore, you have our absolute assurance 
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on this.  Working with the Policing Board, if we are able to be legally audacious and take some risks, 
we will certainly do that. 
 
The Chairperson: I want to reiterate that you have section 75 mainstream in your organisation, but it 
is not reflective of what you have actually done in the past.  Do you have any information on the 
impact on section 75 groups that may have happened, by gender?  It is my belief that no females have 
been rehired.  Is that right? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Oh yes, there have been females rehired. 
 
The Chairperson: Do you have an idea of the breakdown by gender? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I do not.  Our section 75 responsibility is about political opinion 
and religion.  Of course, we have a wider equality duty, shared with the Policing Board, to produce a 
gender action plan.  Therefore, I take the issue of gender equality very seriously.  I can come back to 
the Committee with the breakdown by gender of those staff.  We in the PSNI do not hold that 
information centrally because we are not the employer.  However, as the Chief Constable has said, we 
are willing to be lawfully audacious in monitoring the make-up of temporary staff, and if we can help 
the Committee in that regard and help the board to fulfil our equality duties, we are absolutely 
prepared to do that. 
 
The Chairperson: I am sure that the Equality Commission will advise how you go about that.  For 
members' information, would it be possible to provide written evidence of the gender and religious 
breakdown of those who have been rehired? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We have information on those who were ex-police officers.  The 
PSNI does not hold information on their community background.  That is held by their employer and is 
supplied to the Equality Commission by the employer.  We are prepared to be as creative and lawfully 
audacious as we possibly can in this area, but we cannot step outside the bounds of law. 
 
The Chairperson: That is something that we can acquire from the Equality Commission.   
 
Mr Baggott, surely the extensive use of temporary staff over a long time must have had major equality 
implications, and we have heard those and the reasons and the rationale for that.  There was no 
consultation at all with the Equality Commission, and you have said that that is a conversation that is 
going to happen now.   
 
I will move on to the next question.  Your letter of 3 October suggests that the information relating to 
the English language transcribers was provided in error by Grafton.  That is on page 33, figure 14.  I 
understand that it was the PSNI that provided that information to the Audit Office.  Why was that 
inaccuracy not spotted before you handed it over? 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: My understanding was that that was provided by Grafton.  We do not 
employ these people. 
 
The Chairperson: OK.  Thank you.  We will now move to members' questions.  We have agreed that 
members should be called, and we have an order. 
 
Mr Clarke: On a point of order, Chair.  I thought that it was the intention that if there was a 
supplementary question, we would be permitted to advance that.  I indicated about 10 minutes ago in 
relation to that. 
 
Mr McKay: So did I. 
 
Mr Clarke: I thought it was just going into a private meeting between you and the Chief Constable, 
with the rest of us being excluded. 
 
The Chairperson: No, that is not the case.  That is not what the Committee is about, so I will allow 
you the opportunity to have your question, Trevor. 
 
Mr Clarke: I feel very privileged, thank you very much.   
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I am someone who did not vote in respect of the Patten reform and is not a particularly strong 
supporter of it, because basically it raped and destroyed the Police Service into what we have today.  
If it had not done what it did, we would not have needed to rehire people to do a particular job.  I think 
there was a rape and burn at that particular time.  The Chairperson was very careful to quote one part 
of the Patten reforms, but recommendation 91 states: 
 

"The Policing Board and the police service should initiate a review of police support services with a 
view to contracting out those services where this will enhance the efficient management of 
resources ... allowing "management buy-outs" of support services by police officers or civilian 
employees interested in continuing to provide those services as a private sector company". 

 
How would you, Chief Constable, relate that to the report?  Could you not suggest that some of the 
actions are in the spirit of the Patten proposals, particularly recommendation 91?  Although the Chair 
has picked out one aspect of it, on my reading of the report, I have to say, I am a wee bit disappointed.  
This is my second day here.  We had our first opportunity with the Northern Ireland Audit Office last 
week, but it was held in private session.  I have criticisms of the report, but, unfortunately, we are not 
in public session to criticise it today.  However, I would like that opportunity, because, although some 
want to focus on what they see in the report, I think there are also criticisms of the Audit Office and the 
way in which it has conducted the report. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will make a general statement first of all.  I think that the benefit of Patten 
is what we see today, which is an organisation in which the public generally have an increased 
confidence, across all communities, and that is growing.  It led to the devolution of policing and justice 
powers, with the political confidence to bring that about.  As a result of that, I have been able to 
negotiate, for the first time, a four-year plan with a four-year investment, with tight control around 
efficiencies and resources.  I have been able to plan significantly better in relation to a revised policing 
plan, which the Policing Board has worked with me on.  So we are now able to address quality of 
service, serious organised crime and the sadness of continued paramilitary threat; deal with child 
abuse; tackle a whole raft of issues into the future that we simply could not do before; and produce 
£135 million worth of efficiency savings, which I still have to do over the next two years.  I think that is 
the prize of Patten.  It is an inclusive police service working with communities in a way that it has not 
been able to do before. 
 
For me, leaving aside recommendations about confidence, Patten was all about inclusivity.  You are 
right that the Patten report does not mean to say that we could not bring temporary staff in or that we 
should avoid employment law.  It does not mean to say that we should live beyond our means.  All 
those things were very real, looking back as an independent observer on those years leading up to the 
devolution of policing and justice powers.  However, I do think there has been a prize from Patten that 
is fundamentally worthwhile, which is where we are today and the involvement of people who simply 
would not have been involved in policing before.   
 
I come back to the report.  It actually does say that there are good arguments for the use of temporary 
staff.  There are value-for-money arguments in relation to that, particularly in an uncertain financial 
future when you have short-term bits of work — some about crime threat and some about 
requirements made by others — for which it would be wrong to employ people over a 35-year career 
profile when you do not know what the budget is going to look like.  Every organisation uses 
temporary staff.  It is more sensitive for the PSNI, because that can involve officers returning. 
 
For me, the issue is that we have to have a good corporate grip of that.  The report has shown us that 
our arrangements are sound, but I think they can be improved even further.  I do not want to cherry-
pick Patten.  I want to take it as an entire package, which the PSNI complied with.  To be frank, and in 
fairness to my former colleagues, to have gone through a change programme of 8,000 people leaving, 
80,000 staff movements and an uncertain budget is a world-class task that they have performed.  That 
is not to say that it could not have been done better with hindsight, and the report also points that out. 

 
Mr Clarke: Chairperson, you used the terminology, "get a grip".  The Chief Constable talked about 
getting a grip of the aspects of this.  In relation to your — or your predecessor's — knowledge of the 
service and Grafton Recruitment, I think this is why I raised the point earlier.  At what period would you 
have notified the Policing Board about the recruitment processes and how many had been rehired?  I 
am asking that because I think that that is where there is a slight conflict.  Some of the members who 
were previously members of the Policing Board were already in receipt of this information going back 
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a number of years.  Today, however, they are going to be asking questions about the same thing.  
Had you a mechanism to report that to the Policing Board?  How often did it take place? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: One of the things that I think it would be very helpful to do, and it is an 
invitation I will be making to the Policing Board tomorrow, is to commission an independent audit of 
the information that has been provided to the Policing Board by the PSNI over the past 10 years in 
relation to contracted-out services and the use of temporary staff.  I think that because there has been 
some confusion about this, and I think sometimes the corporate memory gets lost.  I have a timeline 
which shows that, in a number of years, information was provided to the Policing Board about the 
number of temporary staff, the cost of that and the number of returning police officers.  That continued 
for a number of years.  There was a gap, and then it was gone back to in 2011.  I have been clear 
about that.  I think we needed to be transparent about that with the Policing Board.  Within six weeks, 
that information was provided.  
 
I think I do need to clarify some of this.  I will stick to this positive note:  the important thing is that we 
need to be working with the Policing Board to make sure those reporting arrangements meet their 
scrutiny needs and are fully understood by us and the PSNI.  I have a timeline of reports.  I have a 
timeline of a report being commissioned by an external auditor in 2008 on contracted-out services.  It 
gave the PSNI a fairly clean bill of health at the end of 2008.  I think that that needs to be clarified.  
There were reports.  I do not think it was consistent, sufficiently, but I do not think that that is a matter 
of PSNI or Policing Board blame.  For me, it is an opportunity to use this report to clarify that and 
tighten it looking into the future. 

 
Mr Clarke: I want to expand it slightly, because while I appreciate that you have a piece of work to do 
in relation to that, I do not think you nailed the answer.  Over the time from the rehiring of this contract 
in 2004 right up until 2011, approximately how many times would the Policing Board have been 
notified about the employment from Grafton Recruitment of civilian staff and rehired police staff?  I 
think that is what I would like to know. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The breakdown of our police officer and staff complement is 
provided to the board on at least a bi-monthly and, possibly, a monthly basis. 
 
Mr Clarke: Since 2004? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Since 2004, and, indeed, before that.  The breakdown in respect 
of their previous employment record was provided on a number of occasions from 2002 to 2011.  
There are regular reports of the breakdown of our staff, including temporary staff, to the board's 
human resources committee and the resources and improvements committee. 
 
Mr Clarke: I am still on the same theme, Chairperson. 
 
The Chairperson: Michael is looking to get in. 
 
Mr Clarke: Yes, but I am on a particular thread and I want to finish my point.  Since 2004, was there 
any objection from the Policing Board in relation to the rehiring of police officers, up until this report 
was commissioned? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am aware that there were discussions in the human resources 
committee.  There were a number of concerns raised about the Grafton contract and about the efforts 
being made to outreach to make sure that temporary staff were as representative of the community we 
serve as possible, and there were concerns expressed about the number of ex-police officers being 
engaged.  Yes, those discussions took place in the human resources committee. 
 
Mr Clarke: Who was chair of the human resources committee when those concerns were being 
raised? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It passed through a number of chairs.  I am sure that it is a matter 
of record, and it would not be difficult to advise the Committee of that. 
 
Mr Clarke: Can we get that information? 
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The Chairperson: We would appreciate getting that information. 
 
Mr Copeland: I begin by reiterating a degree of understanding and sympathy for those who have 
been charged with upholding the law in this part of the United Kingdom in the past, present and future.  
However, no matter how real those sympathies are, we have before us today a report.  Our duties in 
respect of the report are quite clear and must take primacy over the older and, perhaps, finer feelings.  
No matter what way you cut this, there has been expenditure of a fairly substantial amount of public 
money, and there have been question marks over the expenditure of that amount of public money.  
Anyone who handles public money has a degree of responsibility for holding and spending it.  
Someone somewhere must have had a responsibility to ensure that the circumstances that have 
arisen in this document could not, would not and should not — in this case, they did, unfortunately — 
occur.  I am trying to establish whether that level of responsibility, in your opinion, was resident in the 
Police Service or the oversight body.  What mechanisms that should have been in place to ensure that 
we would not be sitting here with this document today were in place?  More importantly, why did they 
not work?  I am not worried about what we will do in the future or what we did before; it is this piece of 
paper which exercises me. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: As you would expect, there will be two overriding principles behind what I 
am going to say:  the first is fairness, and the second is objectivity, looking back into a period when I 
was not the Chief Constable with my command team.  If I were an oversight body, I would probably 
look at a number of things.  First, did the budget balance every year?  It did.  Was it at any time 
overspent?  It was not.  That is the first indicator.  Secondly, where there any occasions when the 
accounts were qualified?  There were not.  Thirdly, did the use of temporary staff exceed the Northern 
Ireland public sector average at any time?  The report is very clear that, even at the peak of the view 
that it was running out of control in 2007, it was 6·8% when the average is 7%.  What percentage of 
the budget was being spent on temporary staff?  It was about 3% at the time.  Were audits being 
carried out by internal audit to make sure that expenditure was justified and that the duties of the sub-
accounting officer on public money were being adhered to?  Again, there was a clean bill of health 
there.  For an organisation that is accountable for about three quarters of a billion pounds of public 
money in annual turnover, those high-level indicators pointed in the right direction.   
 
That does not justify the fact that, in the context of public confidence and justifying every post, 
particularly those that the report identifies that really should have been turned from temporary staff into 
permanent staff or reviewed, the corporate mechanisms or the corporate grip was not sufficient in 
2007.  That said, that criticism comes from an internal HR report, which is one of three HR plans that 
were produced during that period to try to track and keep a grip of the use of temporary staff and 
permanent civilian staff. 
 
I have no doubt that we will come back to the issue of contracts.  There was a valid criticism in the 
report.  Against today's standards, it might have a different view of contracts.  The report was very 
clear that contract management standards have improved significantly over the past 10 years, with a 
far greater degree of scrutiny.  For the years 2004, 2008, 2009 and 2011, the question is:  was NIO 
procurement advice taken?  The audit trail shows that it was, and explanations were given.  So, you 
could say that the Policing Board was exercising a degree of oversight.  Do I think that it was tight 
enough and do I think it can be improved?  Do I think we need to improve it?  The answer to all those 
questions is yes, and we have a great opportunity now to so do through this report. 

 
Mr McQuillan: Were there any external audits of the reports from 2002 and 2004?  Who carried those 
out? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Aside from our internal audit, which has reviewed all procurement 
and contracts every year since 2006 and given us a satisfactory assurance level every year, an 
external consultancy report, commissioned by the Policing Board, was carried out on some of our 
contracts by a company called Goldblatt McGuigan, and a detailed report was made available.  It 
made a number of observations about business cases and consistency of contract management, but, 
aside from those two issues, it focused on the initiatives that the PSNI had taken to control contract 
management, including training for heads of business services, internal audit reviews every year and 
the tight control exercise by the procurement unit.  That report is available to the Committee. 
 
Mr Copeland: Coming back to the mechanism by which former officers found themselves back in 
service, in some cases after many years, as a lot of them did, do you have any indication as to what 
would have happened to a former officer who applied through one of the recruitment companies, 
perhaps Grafton, and found that, for some inexplicable reason, despite his qualifications and service 
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being correct and his being in every way suitable, he was not granted one of the positions.  Would that 
be a matter of concern for Grafton or the PSNI?  In other words, was there potential discrimination 
against former officers who sought to be re-engaged, perhaps in the Historical Enquiries Team (HET), 
or who would have had skills in the intelligence side of things?  Were any such cases drawn to your 
attention? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am not aware of any such cases.  That is not to say that they 
did not happen, but I am certainly not aware of any.  Personnel from Grafton were required, from time 
to time, to come down and brief the human resources committee of the Policing Board on how staff 
were selected and what efforts it made to advertise, not just locally in Northern Ireland but in its 
branches in the Republic of Ireland.  The human resources committee asked questions of Grafton 
personnel on those issues, but, in direct answer to your question, I am not aware of any such cases. 
 
Mr Copeland: Did those briefings include not only those officers who were considered for, and given, 
positions, but those officers or former officers who may have applied and were not given positions? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I do not know if it was specific on that point, nor do I know 
whether the board raised that point.  However, I have a copy of the presentation, and that can be 
provided to the Committee. 
 
Mr Copeland: That would be useful, thank you. 
 
The Chairperson: It would be good for us to get that information, Ms Gillespie.  I ask members, when 
asking questions, to speak up or lean forward, towards the mic, if that is OK. We are having some 
difficulty hearing the questions. 
 
Mr McKay: Obviously, there has been some comment about the concerns raised by the Policing 
Board and some indication that concerns when the numbers of recruits — temporary workers — were 
coming through at the low end of the scale were first flagged up in 2004.  When the board raised the 
concerns about officers returning as temporary staff into particular roles that they had concerns about, 
what was the police response? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Can you be a bit more specific about when that was?  Was it pre-2009 or 
in the past few years? 
 
Mr McKay: Was it raised in 2004 by the board? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It was raised in 2005. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: In 2005, it was raised by the chief executive to the then deputy:  Grafton 
contract, civilianisation, the contract specification, the procurement unit advice, the numbers of ex-
RUC officers and the implementation plan for civilianisation.  That was in 2005. 
 
Mr McKay: What was the police opinion of any concerns that were raised?  Did they note them or act 
on them? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me, I would need to look back at the — 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Pollock, you indicated that you wanted to come in. 
 
Mr Sam Pollock (Northern Ireland Policing Board): Yes, just to confirm that the board consistently, 
from 2002 through to the present, raised the concerns that were being brought to it.  The concerns 
were not about a lack of information about the establishment of posts in the PSNI; they were more 
specific and were about the extent to which former officers were being re-engaged.  The concern was 
specifically about the contract that was used to re-engage them and the extent to which former officers 
may have been going into civilianised roles that did not necessarily need police skill or experience.  
Those questions were raised consistently and persistently from 2002 onwards.  There was a 
particularly active period in 2004 and 2005, when the human resources committee asked the audit and 
risk committee, chaired by Mr Cobain, to raise the matter directly with the Chief Constable and 
suggested that the entire matter be referred to internal audit.  That was politely refused. 
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Mr McKay: Sorry, what was that?  It was asked that it be referred to the PSNI audit? 
 
Mr Pollock: Yes; the internal audit. 
 
Mr McKay: And that was refused. 
 
Mr Pollock: That was an opportunity lost in my view, because the concerns could have been 
exercised at that point.  In 2005, the chief executive also raised specific questions with the Deputy 
Chief Constable.  That was more around the contract.  The board had been given to believe that two 
separate tender processes and two separate contracts were issued in 2004, but that was not the case.  
In fact, what happened was that, in 2001, the primary contract was used to begin to engage temporary 
staff.  That was on the back of advice given by Northern Ireland Office procurement.  Again, in 
retrospect, it could be argued that that was not good advice, but it was advice nevertheless.  Grafton 
was brought in to provide temporary staff; that is an important element. 
 
The board raised these concerns consistently, right through to most recently when the support of the 
Chief Constable and his staff has been much more rigorous and responses more straightforward.  
There is no question that the board exercised its functions to ask questions, seek presentations and 
be satisfied that proper processes were being used in relation to this matter. 

 
Mr McKay: Chief Constable, on that point, I want to ask about the referral to internal audit that was 
requested by the board.  Why did the police refuse that?  Why did the police seemingly turn a blind 
eye to the concerns of the Policing Board for so many years? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: My understanding is that that was about the management of the contract, 
as opposed to the workforce mix.  The issue was the management of the contract, and an explanation 
was given at the time.  It was not seen that there was a need to refer the contract management to the 
audit and risk committee because a clear explanation was given and the advice from the procurement 
unit had been taken. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is also fair to say, as I said earlier, that, every year since then, 
our internal audit has reviewed procurement and contract management, including the award of this 
contract to Grafton.  Therefore, although we may have turned down the board's suggestion to review it 
at that time, it has been reviewed every year since.  Of course, we are in a very different procurement 
and contract regulation context now.  Rules have tightened up considerably, and there is much more 
scrutiny of our procurement and contract management, which is right and proper.  Particularly in the 
current financial climate where public money is being spent, it is right that we should have proper 
scrutiny of our procurement and contract management.  It was a different context in 2004, but it 
tightened up in 2006.  Internal audit reported to our audit and risk committee every year on our 
procurement and contract management and gave us a satisfactory assurance level on both every 
year. 
 
Mr McKay: You made a point about gender earlier, Chair.  Of course, gender is one of the section 75 
groups, as is religion.  In 2004, in the context of policing, it was perhaps a bigger political issue than it 
is now.  One of the reasons for that was composition.  Given the political pressures that were on them, 
I find it absolutely shocking that the police signed up to a contract with Grafton whereby they would 
have absolutely no knowledge of the religion, gender or make-up of the personnel whom they would 
employ.  What was the reason for that?  When setting up the contract with Grafton, did they seek an 
assurance that they would receive that kind of information to assure themselves that they would be 
compliant with their own equality and section 75 legislation? 
 
Mr Pollock: It was absolutely clear in the tender specification from April 2002: 
 

"We require the agent to handle the issuing and receiving of all job application forms and equal 
opportunity monitoring forms.  Analysis of equal opportunity will also be the responsibility of the 
agent.  The Police Service of Northern Ireland Equal Opportunities unit must be provided with all 
relevant information for Fair employment monitoring purposes.  We are interested in hearing your 
proposals for setting up an independent process for handling equal opportunities analysis for the 
organisation." 

 
It also specifically required the agent to provide the Chief Constable with information on community 
background. 
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Mr McKay: That was in the contract? 
 
Mr Pollock: That was in the tender specification.  The board was told on a number of occasions that 
the PSNI could not indicate the community background of agency staff or what job they may have 
done previously.  That is not correct, because the agent was also required to carry out vetting 
arrangements, and the first question on the vetting form is this: have you ever worked for the military 
or a police force, and, if so, which one?  This is the contract that was used for the employment of 
temporary staff.  There is no doubt that the responsibility under section 75 could have been provided 
for.  The information presented to the board on a number of occasions was, therefore, inadequate. 
 
Mr McKay: Chief Constable, do you accept that the police have failed in their equality and section 75 
duties? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think that we need to work with the Equality Commission to find out what 
is possible.  The contract in 2002 was for the recruitment of permanent staff.  Then, of course, that 
extended into a contract to bring in temporary staff.  However, I think that the advice of our legal team 
would be somewhat at odds with our ability to access community background information.  I used the 
words "legally audacious", and I am quite prepared to be legally audacious on this, but there is not 
quite the legal clarity that you might expect on that. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The Equality Commission's website has quite clear guidance on 
that.  Pages 5 and 6 of a guidance document on its website specifically exclude monitoring information 
about staff provided by a recruitment agency.  
 
I repeat what I said earlier.  As a service, we want to be as audacious and creative as we can in 
monitoring all our staff, whether temporary or permanent, but we have to abide by, and stay within the 
bounds of, what is legal.  I am very happy to discuss with the board what we can legally do with the 
Equality Commission.  It is not in dispute that the PSNI could, and did, seek information about the 
previous employment of temporary staff.  We provided that information to the board on a number of 
occasions, including in November 2011, when we provided the board with the number of temporary 
staff who were ex-RUC/PSNI.  What we do not hold is information on their community background 
and, actually, our advice, and the clear advice on the Equality Commission's website, is that it is illegal 
for us to do so. 

 
The Chairperson: Had there been an equality impact assessment, there would not have been an 
adverse impact on section 75 groups, and we would not be having this conversation. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am not sure about that.  My deputy gave you a clear explanation of how 
there would have been a screening process.  It may not have affected the outcomes in relation to the 
need to employ temporary staff.  The issue is more about justification.  You have to distinguish 
between what is possible and what is information. 
 
The Chairperson: We will never know because it was not carried out. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: That is right; we do not know.  If, in 2001, we had had the 
foresight to screen temporary staff, we might have put in place actions to mitigate the negative impact 
on certain groups.  However, in 2001, we had no idea that we were going to employ so many 
temporary staff for so long — you do not know what needs to employ temporary staff will arise in years 
to come.  Yes, we could have done that, and perhaps we might have put in place some mitigating 
actions with whoever held the contract to make sure that whoever they recruited was representative of 
the whole community.  However, we did not know at that time.  Now, with the benefit of hindsight, we 
do, and the trick will be to put it right. 
 
The Chairperson: What do you intend to do, apart from speaking to the Equality Commission?  Is 
there anything else that your organisation can do to remedy this and instil in the public confidence that 
this will not happen again? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: As the Policing Board will know, we have a plan — in fact, it is 
published in this report — to reduce our reliance on associate staff.  Part of that plan involves 
advertising the posts and recruiting through open competitions.  Some posts will be suppressed, and 
some will be dealt with in other ways.  However, we have a very good plan to reduce our reliance on 
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associate staff.  That is not to say that we will not need temporary staff in the future; of course we will.  
Therefore, from now on, we will have to make sure that we work with the Equality Commission and the 
board to make that cadre of staff as representative of the community whom we serve as possible. 
 
Mr Pollock: The board emphasises that the report's recommendations provide a very strong 
mechanism whereby collaboration and working together can ensure that this sort of thing does not 
happen again.  Unquestionably, the board accepts the reality that temporary staff will be needed.  The 
board also supports the view that, in some cases, people with police experience and police expertise 
are required.  The issue is that, where that is required, it must be done through a fair, open and 
transparent competition.  The board and the PSNI will work together to ensure that it is open and 
transparent.  The damage was done because people were not sure what was happening or what was 
going on behind the scenes.  In that situation, confidence is damaged. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Good afternoon.  I want to take this opportunity to say that I completely 
acknowledge — in fact, I am very grateful for — the tremendous job that has been done on the 
transformative process of policing here in the North.  Stupendous progress — in some instances 
unbelievable — has been made.  I think that the widespread support for policing that has already been 
achieved is testimony to that.  However, society is not perfect either.  There are those who are intent 
on going back to the bad old ways and those who refuse to acknowledge or recognise the evidence 
before them.  Internally, if I may present it in that context, we are having a conversation about 
problems that arose as a natural outcome of a radical and challenging process.  Therefore, it would 
have been miraculous if there had not been glitches and problems along the way.   
 
I am coming in earlier than I had planned because of issues that have arisen from supplementary 
questions, not so much because of what the Chairperson said.  I will address them to Mr Pollock.  I will 
go back to the Patten recommendations, specifically numbers 89, 90 and 91.  Recommendation 89 
states: 

 
"The Assistant Chief Constables currently responsible for support services should be replaced by 
two civilian Assistant Chief Officers, one responsible for personnel issues and one for finance and 
administration." 

 
Has that been done? 
 
Mr Pollock: My understanding is that it has, yes. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Has it been done on the basis of a common definition of what we mean by 
"support services"? 
 
Mr Pollock: I do not understand, Chair. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: The expression "support services" may have been slightly misinterpreted or 
misunderstood.  Recommendation 90 might assist: 
 

"There should be a rigorous programme of civilianisation of jobs which do not require police 
powers, training or experience, exceptions being made only when it can be demonstrated that 
there is a good reason for a police officer to occupy the position." 

 
Recommendation 91, by way of further explanation, states: 
 

"The Policing Board and the police service should initiate a review of police support services with a 
view to contracting out those services where this will enhance the efficient management of 
resources. Consideration should be given to allowing 'management buy-outs' of support services 
by police officers or civilian employees interested in continuing to provide those services as a 
private sector company, and in such cases management buy-out contractors should be offered a 
secure contract for at least three years to enable them to establish themselves before having to 
tender for renewal." 

 
I think that Trevor referred to that.  I am more interested, at this point, in ensuring that we all have an 
understanding of what is meant by support services in that context. 
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Mr Pollock: There has been confusion at times.  In the late 1990s and early 2000, the management 
buyout service was very much the "in thing", so cleaning services, fingerprinting services and guarding 
services were the subject of a management buyout, or contracting out, of a whole raft of services. In 
some cases, that was in the interests of efficiency; in others, more fundamentally, police officer posts 
were released so that the front line could be better serviced, and Patten was very strong on that.  
Therefore, in early 2000, the management buyout, or contracting out of services, was very much part 
of the strategy that needed to be taken forward at the time.   
 
The second highly significant strategy is what Pattern termed "civilianisation".  He compared the police 
here with the police in England and Wales.  For understandable reasons, because of the different 
context here, civilian support posts were probably about 20% of the overall staff complement, 
whereas, in Thames Valley, for example, the figure was 35%.  Patten was saying that the police had 
to move towards a greater civilianisation of support roles that did not require a police officer with the 
power of arrest and warrant, so that strategy was taken forward.  The PSNI's response was forthright:  
it set a target that, between 2002 and 2006, some 600 posts would be civilianised.  The number 
reached was about 400, which you could interpret as the glass being half full or half empty.  It was a 
magnificent achievement, but there was still had a long way to go.   
 
The third issue is about the need for an organisation of the size of the Police Service of Northern 
Ireland to be able to address slippage and fill gaps and sickness absences by using temporary staff for 
short-term cover, as would any other organisation.  That is an entirely separate process.  It was the 
confusion of those three strategies that created pragmatism at the time.   
 
Going back to your first question, I should explain that it was, undoubtedly, the responsibility of the 
most senior people in HR and finance to take those strategies forward, using the proper processes, in 
support of the Chief Constable and his team.  It was also their responsibility to ensure that, where a 
contract was needed, it was properly and openly tendered for.  That is where the lack of concentration 
or scrutiny crept in.  The report contains a view that local district commanders were somehow 
responsible for this being out of control, but the facts in the report self-evidently contradict that.  The 
number of temporary staff recruited in urban and rural regions was a mere fraction of the overall 
number of temporary staff recruited in central divisions.  That was not a good time, but we are now in 
a position in which we can build closer scrutiny and have closer joint oversight.  That will ensure that 
we have proper strategies, whether those are for management buyout, civilianisation and the 
completion of that process, or for filling important gaps through recruiting temporary staff, with 
temporary meaning temporary. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I invite the other witnesses to indicate whether they have any caveats to 
that, or is there, regardless of where we started, now an agreed definition of police support services? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will add to what Mr Pollock said.  There were some consequences of the 
way in which the PSNI was being asked to work pre-devolution of policing and justice.  If I were to take 
off my police hat and put on a business hat, I know that quite a few people who are outside the 
industry and required to achieve more with less would probably look on with some incredulity.  All of 
that was necessary to build confidence, but it had consequences, and I will outline a few of those.  
 
First, the PSNI was rigidly stuck on 7,500 police posts, which had consequences.  That figure was a 
prerequisite and non-negotiable.  As a result, and as the budget got smaller, police officers started to 
have to do police staff jobs, and so operational police officers were doing what should have been done 
by civilians.  My analogy is that it is a bit like asking someone running a large department store to 
manage with rigid numbers of checkout assistants but forget about the marketing, investment, product 
design and management.  That was challenged by the PSNI in its fundamental strategic policing 
review, which was published in September 2009.  I was very fortunate to inherit that very good piece 
of work, and, as a result, in September 2009, that non-negotiable 7,500 figure was removed.  As a 
consequence, in the next 18 months, we, supported by the Policing Board, put 700 more police 
officers back into neighbourhood response, because we were able to fill some posts with civilians, 
save money and reinvest it.  So there are consequences of having a rigid way of managing an 
establishment.   
 
Secondly, the amount of regulation and bureaucracy, compared with where I worked previously, is 
hugely significant.  Again, that was a necessary part of building confidence in that prosecutorial 
decision-making was taken out of the hands of the police.  However, that extended into matters that 
perhaps should have been dealt with at a local level without that level of paperwork.  In 2009, for 
example, we produced 57,000 files, because every decision had to be sanctioned or given some 
oversight by a public prosecution lawyer.  As you can imagine, significant resources were required to 
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feed that bureaucracy.  A significant administrative system is needed to service a criminal justice 
approach that requires that degree of paperwork.  With the support of the Policing Board, we have 
moved away from that now.   
 
Thirdly, the future financial regime was unpredictable, which had several consequences.  We are 
fortunate that we have now moved to four-year funding.  Although I would rather not be making £135 
million in efficiencies, at least I know now, year on year, exactly what the budget is and can plan the 
workforce mix far more effectively against the risk matrix, which is overseen by our internal audit.   
 
Some police support consists of managed services, which, as Mr Pollock said, comprise the big 
functions of cleaning and canteens, and now moving into management and some custody functions, 
although those are still overseen by police officers.  We are moving to delivering more functions that 
could be better and more cheaply provided by the private sector.  That managed services contract 
was taken to the Policing Board.  There was very positive engagement with the board in May, and the 
contract was explained fully against the medium-term resourcing plan.  Some temporary staff are still 
required, and that contract is with the Department of Justice as we wait to learn from the Public 
Accounts Committee report.  We will revisit that on the back of this scrutiny.  Some of that is for short-
term work, and some of the police staff civilianisation involves posts that are still necessary for 
carrying out certain administrative functions that we cannot outsource, because they belong in specific 
departments, some of which are headed by police officers. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I want to hear from the Department on that as well. 
 
Mr Perry: My difficulty with the definition is similar to that which the Chief Constable outlined.  I 
confirm that the contract for further temporary staff is on hold, pending the consideration of the 
Committee and the Policing Board.   
 
I will make a comment on the 7,500 posts.  That was regarded as a political commitment until it 
became clear that the compositional target could be met.  As an aside, the fact that there was that 
commitment in the spending review back in 2007 was important.  As a means of getting money out of 
the Treasury, it was important. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I will return to that topic later, but thank you very much. 
 
Mr Dallat: I said at the private meeting that I thought that this was a historic occasion.  I think that I am 
the longest-serving member of the Public Accounts Committee, and this is the first time that we have 
had the police before us and had the right to question them on — 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: It is usually the other way round, is it not, John? 
 
Mr Dallat: Throw that intruder out. 
 
I think that today is very significant and important.  It is a tribute to police officers, past and present, 
and those such as Judith Gillespie who bridged the gap.  All have played a part in allowing greater 
scrutiny of the police.  That is my positive contribution.   
 
I regret very much that the director of human resources is not with us.  I believe that he could have 
made a significant contribution to answering many of the questions that I would have liked to ask.  I 
seek an assurance that it was not physically possible for Mr Stewart to be present today.  I look 
forward to that.   
 
As the Chief Constable said, the percentage of money involved was 3%, but that amounted to £102 
million, which covered 1·5 million days and involved 1,071 officers who had retired and then returned.  
If that is not an example of the revolving door syndrome, please tell me what is. 
 
Various questions have been asked here today, and I will not go back over them.  However, I am sure 
that the responses can be checked, because there are issues of accuracy and truth, and there are 
issues of whether people were misled or deflected when looking for information about contracts that 
did not follow the normal procedure.  I listened very carefully to Judith's reassurance that that was in 
the past and that things have changed, but I am not so sure.  That is why this public session of the 
Public Accounts Committee is important.  I have some documents here, which, I assure you, do not go 
back to 2001 or 2005; they are all dated 2012.  Indeed, one is from the director of human resources, 
who is not here today, assuring me that a contract with another firm of consultants, BDO, was above 
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board.  However, Mr Perry then threw light on that, and I give credit to him.  His is one of the most 
honest statements from an accounting officer that I have read since joining the Assembly.  His 
statement makes it perfectly clear that the contract with BDO was anything but right.  Indeed, Mr 
Perry, to his credit, threatened to withdraw the accounts.  He said: 

 
"It is a matter of concern that there is a significant potential that the payment to BDO for the 
support services is without approval.  I will be considering refusing to grant retrospective approval 
for the payments, thus making the payments irregular." 

 
Those are the words of an accounting officer who genuinely wants to take control of what is 
happening.   
 
I hope that my colleagues are listening to me, because I am trying to be constructive.  Since then, a 
temporary post on the police website has been removed before the closing date and an appointment 
made in the north-west.  There has been recent correspondence about that.  The person who 
complained was subsequently given an interview, but, obviously, did not get the job and was told that 
they had come a very tight second. 

 
Mr Clarke: On a point of order, Chairperson.  I thought that the purpose of today's meeting was to 
scrutinise and ask the police about the hiring of agency staff, as reported in the Northern Ireland Audit 
Office report.  I have no issue with the point that Mr Dallat is raising, but if we are to have a session on 
that, it would be useful to have been furnished with the papers so that all of us had knowledge of what 
we were talking about.  I thought that I was coming here today to talk about the report and its findings 
on the hiring of agency staff.  However, from what I can gather, what the Deputy Chairperson is saying 
strays far beyond the terms of the report. 
 
The Chairperson: The Deputy Chair has raised a significant issue, and I think it only right that he has 
done so.  I will ask him to provide that information to the Committee. 
 
Mr Dallat: I am endeavouring to present a team effort, so I will not have any conflict with Trevor 
Clarke.  I am responding to what Judith Gillespie said.  She gave us an assurance, several times, that 
things had changed.  That is not a criticism of the Deputy Chief Constable; absolutely not.  If I am 
being told now that I cannot give evidence to the Committee, we have a problem. 
 
The Chairperson: As Chair, I am allowing you to respond. 
 
Mr Dallat: Thank you very much.  Those are matters that I want written into the report, and, obviously, 
they will be investigated.  People are still being hurt by things that happened in the past and which, I 
believe, are still happening.  
 
I agree to return now to the debate before us.  Essentially, the revolving door approach of the past is 
the focus of attention today.  I agree with that, Chair, and apologise if I upset anybody by diverting 
from it a little. 

 
Mr Clarke: I could talk about cleaners in Antrim police station.  Sometimes, it has not been absolutely 
clean. 
 
The Chairperson: I am sure, Deputy Chair, that we can get that information as a Committee.  We will 
note that. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Before Mr Perry replies to that specific issue, I need to clarify something 
for the record.  Mr Stewart will be very willing to work with the Committee and support it.  He is on 
leave on a personal matter, and that is a long-standing arrangement, which was in the diary before the 
date for today's session was set.  I have no doubt that he will be prepared to respond to any questions 
from the Committee and, subsequently, to have conversations with the Policing Board. 
 
Mr Dallat: I suggest that we reserve the right to call Mr Stewart as a witness in the future. 
 
The Chairperson: Absolutely. 
 
Mr Perry: I will comment on the particular correspondence that Mr Dallat mentioned.  Since then, 
there have been a number of discussions with the Police Rehabilitation and Retraining Trust (PRRT), 
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and those issues are still being bottomed out.  That letter is not the end point of the consideration of 
that issue. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I just want to clarify the status of PRRT as a standing body; it is not the 
PSNI. 
 
Mr Perry: It is not the PSNI; it is an arm's-length body that looks at the retraining and rehabilitation of 
former police officers. 
 
The Chairperson: I assure everybody that it will be the Committee who decide, after today's meeting, 
how we go forward with the information that we collect here today and on any further 
recommendations. 
 
Mr Copeland: I have a question for Sam.  Some time ago, you quoted from a document.  I want to 
clarify whether that was the tender document on which the contract was based or the contract itself. 
 
Mr Pollock: It was the tender specification. 
 
Mr Copeland: Did the clauses that you read out find their way into the contract? 
 
Mr Pollock: I would have to find out and give that evidence to the Committee. 
 
Mr Copeland: It strikes me that we would need to establish that.  The contract tender document is one 
thing, but — 
 
The Chairperson: Michael, may I ask you to speak up? 
 
Mr Copeland: Sorry.  We are talking about the contractual relationship between the recruitment 
company and the PSNI and the Policing Board.  We need to establish whether that was in the 
contract.  Were those conditions of the contract honoured?  Were they adhered to?  That is a critical 
piece of information that we need as quickly as possible. 
 
Mr Pollock: That is a very legitimate question.  I have to assume that, if it was in the tender 
specification, it was an overriding requirement of the contract.  My point in exemplifying it was that, in 
those earlier years, there seemed to be a difficulty in getting the information that stemmed from those 
specifications.  It has been stated that it was not for the PSNI to know that and that the PSNI could not 
place a legal requirement on Grafton to provide such information.  I was simply making the point that 
the tender specification was quite specific on that.  It said that the information needed to be given to 
the Chief Constable.  Therefore, unquestionably, the Chief Constable had a right to ask for information 
on previous occupation and community background. 
 
Mr Copeland: If I understand you correctly, Sam, the contract required it to give the information rather 
than the Chief Constable to ask for it, which is a slightly different thing.  This information was to be 
made available in accordance with the contract.  If it did not do that, it was obviously in breach of 
contract.  You would have thought something might have flowed from that. 
 
The Chairperson: OK, we will move on to the question session.  The intention was to take a comfort 
break an hour and a half into the session.  The order of questioners will be Mr Paul Girvan, Mr Michael 
Copeland, Mr John Dallat, Mr Sean Rogers and Mr Adrian McQuillan.  We will take the comfort break 
after Mr Copeland's questions. 
 
Mr Girvan: OK; we might need it.  I appreciate that everyone else has declared an interest.  At the 
very outset, I must declare that direct members of my family are members of the PSNI and retired 
RUC officers. 
 
The report that we are dealing with is about the use of agency staff.   I welcome part of that report, as 
it has been quite illuminating in some ways.  The percentage of agency staff used by the public sector 
is somewhere in the region of 6% or 7%, while the figure for the PSNI is around 4%.  I just want to 
draw attention to that point. 
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The change was brought about as a result of Patten.  Whether you believe it or not, it was a political 
decision.  You were left to manage what was left and to try to bring about the changes.  An agency 
was appointed to fill the vacuum created by the fact that officers had to go within a certain window of 
opportunity. There were probably members of the Policing Board who were regularly asking what the 
ratio was.  At the end of the day, it was all about trying to get 50:50 policing.  Officers and Policing 
Board members would have been asking questions about the ratios and whether the targets were 
being achieved.  That was probably one of the driving forces behind the RUC getting officers to accept 
the Patten package and retire.  A vacuum was created, and a way forward had to be managed. 
 
Paragraph 2.11 of the report states that the contract was awarded to Grafton for £44 million in 2004.  
There was a variance with the contract.  It was mentioned earlier that there is a way of continuing a 
contract during procurement.  However, as it was such a large increase, why did it not go back out for 
tender in 2004? 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will give the objective answer.  If I miss something, I will ask the deputy to 
clarify some of the details.  There is a consistent theme running through this report in respect of 2004, 
2008, 2009, and 2011.  I will put on the record now that we would significantly value much tighter 
guidance around whether salary cost is to be included in total contract value.  That is a consistent 
theme.  We have total respect for the Audit Office in producing this report, but we would value a 
tightening of that, because, in relation to 2004, 2008 and onwards, the procurement advice appears to 
have been that the salary cost did not have to be included in the contract price.   
 
In 2004, there was an existing contract with Grafton to provide permanent staff.  The advice from the 
procurement unit, which was checked again, was that there was no problem in relation to that 
including temporary staff as a recruitment contract.  That is a matter of auditable record.  Therefore, 
the total value of the contract was less than £4 million, although if you add on the salary costs, it 
becomes £44 million.  We are talking about the fee, and I understand that, at the time, there were 
negotiations with the supplier to reduce the percentage cost, and the report quite rightly identifies an 
underestimate from the PSNI in relation to the value-for-money savings achieved by that 
renegotiation.   
 
The critical issue here — and it is not a judgement call I make on this, because the report is clear — is 
that the guidance in relation to whether you include salary costs was unclear.  Contract management 
has improved significantly over the years, as the Central Procurement Directorate (CPD) and others 
have become involved.  It has tightened again now that we have the devolution of policing and justice.  
However, if there was something that I would request, it would be total clarity around whether salary 
cost is included as a matter of contract value, rather than signposting to those who are bidding for a 
contract as to what the potential gains and profit margin might be. 

 
Mr Girvan: Just to elaborate on that, are we looking at a cost of roughly 8%? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will be cautious on that because it is commercially sensitive information. 
 
Mr Girvan: I appreciate that. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It was a significant reduction in the original fee. 
 
Mr Girvan: Everyone heard the headline that £102 million was paid to agency staff, which probably 
makes up a very small proportion of the overall policing budget over that period.  I appreciate that the 
headline is the £102 million.  If you mention that sort of figure, people think that that is the equivalent 
of four hospitals.  I appreciate that people still had to be paid, and jobs still had to be done. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is salary cost, which you would be paying anyway and which you pay 
through the agent.  The agent's profit comes from the fee that they get as a percentage of that salary. 
 
Mr Girvan: Would the human resources committee have dealt with that issue at a board level? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The cost of the contract is more likely to have gone through the 
resources and improvements committee of the Policing Board rather than the human resources 
committee, but it would have been monitored regularly through the committee. 
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Mr Girvan: OK.  A question was asked previously in relation to who the chairperson of the human 
resources committee was in 2004.  For members' information, can we have the detail of who would 
have been involved in that committee at that stage? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I have the detail if you want me to go into more detail around some of that 
original 2004 issue.  As a result of a request from the PSNI at the time, the procurement unit said — 
and I have to be fair around this — that where the original agreement was primarily intended for 
permanent placements, it did not specifically exclude temporary placements, and the agreement could 
reasonably be considered as being one for the provision of recruitment services.  In other words, the 
joining up of permanent staff with temporary staff.  That was the procurement advice at the time. 
 
Mr Girvan: Unlike many organisations that are going through a redundancy phase, you were doing a 
recruiting and redundancy package, which makes it slightly more complex. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Could I mention one other issue, Chair?  Around 2007 and 2008, 
it was the intention of the PSNI to advertise for a new cadre of recruits to the Police Service called 
police community support officers (PCSOs).  That initiative was taken forward with the total support of 
the Policing Board and following the success of similar initiatives in England and Wales.  We were 
almost ready to go with the advertisement for those posts to recruit around 400 new police community 
support officers, and, at the very last minute, because of the outcome of the comprehensive spending 
review (CSR), we had to pull that because we knew that, although we might be able to afford them in 
the first year of the CSR period, we would have had to make them redundant after a year and there 
was little point in advertising.  Of course, all of that was included in the Grafton contract for permanent 
staff, and there was expectation on its part that we would seek to recruit more permanent staff.  In 
fact, at a very late stage in the process, disappointingly for us all, including the Policing Board, we had 
to pull that whole process. 
 
Mr Girvan: The contract is now worded differently, and there has been a change in the way that the 
legislation has been put in place.  Guidelines are there.  Do you accept that the guidance now is that it 
is about the total cost of the contract and that that seems to be the way forward? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: More guidance came out in March 2012, and it is clear.  I still think that 
there is a lack of clarity on this, but it is certainly our intention now to include full salary cost in the 
contract, because that is where the position has moved to.  It is very clear that the Audit Office has a 
view on that, and we will accept that and comply entirely. 
 
Mr Perry: As accounting officer, I share that view.  Salary costs should be included. 
 
Mr Pollock: Since devolution, under the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP), the guidance 
has been much better and much more specific.  The member's initial question was about why we did 
not run a competition, and, as an accounting officer, my view is that it was flawed at the time.  The 
advice from the Northern Ireland Office was that there was no impediment.  However, the fact that 
someone tells you that there is no impediment to go ahead does not mean that you should; you must 
make your own decisions on the basis of risk and look at the other options.  One option was to go out 
to full competition.  As there were two other contractors involved in the 2001 contract, the second 
option was to approach them and say, "We want you to take on the recruitment of temporary staff; 
what is your offer on new fees?"  However, to simply go up the road of amalgamating, excluding two 
other contractors who are already in a process, and making it all one contract would have been an 
incredible risk.   
 
More importantly, my reservation was not that the fees may have saved money to some extent.  
Grafton was being asked to do a very different job.  If you are recruiting permanent staff, you have 
huge advertising costs and a huge number of applicants — thousands for jobs here in Northern 
Ireland.  You have to process those, sift them, shortlist them, run a competition and everything 
involved in that.  It is a very expensive process.  For temporary staff, the agency invited CVs, and 
there was a short interview.  Those names were then given to whoever was asking for jobs to be filled 
on a temporary basis, and the cost of — 

 
The Chairperson: Mr Pollock, who was the person who was asking? 
 
Mr Pollock: It would have gone to the corporate HR in PSNI. 
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The Chairperson: Who was the head person? 
 
Mr Pollock: That is for the Chief Constable to answer.  My point is that it was a very different process 
and was not resource-intensive.  You must remember that the local commander or the head of the 
division taking on those temporary staff had their own process because they had to interview those 
people.  So, there was expense at that end that I do not believe was calculated in the savings.  The 
savings only relate to the money that was saved with Grafton.  There were underlying, underpinning 
costs that have to be taken into consideration in any final estimate of money saved. 
 
The Chairperson: Chief Constable, to come back to my previous question, who was the person 
tasked to do that at that time? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I would like to step back from that.  I fully respect the view of the chief 
executive, but if you look at the managing public money criteria around regularity and propriety, you 
will see that nothing was done here that was not in accordance with guidance.  If you look at value for 
money, you will see that the renegotiation of the fee took the cost down significantly, and the report 
itself identifies — and probably underestimates — the value-for-money savings.  If you look at the 
management of the opportunity of risk, you will see that it was undoubtedly a managed risk, but I have 
been told that part of the risk is that Grafton was the primary holder of the contract.  To have gone out 
to competitive tendering may well have led to a legal challenge, which would have delayed the whole 
process significantly, and, at that time, there was a need to recruit temporary staff.   
 
Against a checklist of managing public money, I have to say that I can see exactly why those 
decisions were made.  There was a valid argument — and I think that is a valid challenge in the report 
— that, without competitive tendering, you do not know whether better value for money would have 
been achieved.  With the benefit of hindsight, should that have gone to competitive tendering?  That is 
a question for debate.  Undoubtedly, if it had done that, it would have slowed down the recruitment of 
staff, it probably would have slowed down some of the administrative processes that were necessary 
at the time, and it may have affected operational performance.  That is a matter of speculation from 
me.  It is a judgement call as opposed to a pass-or-fail question.  The judgement made at the time 
appeared to be the best way forward, in light of guidance that was taken, ethically, from the 
procurement unit. 

 
The Chairperson: That is a matter of speculation.  That will be a judgement for the Committee. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes, of course. 
 
Mr Clarke: The Chief Constable and Sam are being fairly disingenuous.  It is very easy for Sam to 
come in late in the day and make the suggestion that he has, having only joined the Policing Board in 
August 2012.  I hope that I am here in the future when we are scrutinising some of the roles of the 
Policing Board.  The Chief Constable has been equally disingenuous, because, although Grafton had 
the variation to the contract in 2004 — OK, Sam said that two others might have had that — you did 
not tell us that it has gone out to tender since that, in 2008, and Grafton won it again.  That was a 
competitive tender, so I think that value for money has been demonstrated, and that was one point 
that you possibly — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me; I was not being disingenuous, I was talking about the 2004 
contract.  It moved on in 2008 to a competitive tendering process.  Interestingly enough, the advice 
from the procurement unit at the time mentioned two other companies that might be involved, and 
actually suggested that perhaps Grafton would subcontract some of the work.  It clearly did not think 
that competitive tendering was an issue at the time, otherwise it would have given a competitive 
tendering instruction, and it did not. 
 
Mr Girvan: I mentioned the inclusion of the full contract costs.  I appreciate that guidance was given in 
March 2012 that clarified that matter for further contracts, so I understand that that was fine, but, going 
back to 2004, it is not necessarily your understanding that that was the case.  Is that correct? 
 
Mr Perry: That is correct.  The procurement unit was a free-standing unit that gave advice to the 
police, in particular, but also to the Prison Service.  Its advice was not copied to the Departments; it 
just went to its client for whom it was providing professional advice.  My understanding is that, in 2004, 
the position was not as clear-cut as it is now.  It was not definitive about the inclusion of salary costs.  
If the issue about the agency element of the contract had come to the Department, I think the 
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Department would probably have recommended some kind of competitive process just to manage the 
risk that is referred to.  However, I accept that, given the advice that the police received at the time, it 
was not unreasonable for them to take the course that they did. 
 
Mr Girvan: I appreciate that the report deals with the use of agency staff.  As I have already alluded 
to, the ratio between permanent staff and agency staff in the PSNI is slightly lower than the norm in 
the rest of the public sector.  I will tell a story that I told in the Committee last week of an officer who 
retired and got the Patten package.  He took his retirement and, basically, was brought back to retrain 
somebody to do the job that he was doing.  I appreciate that that is what happened there.  I appreciate 
that some feel that the report is a witch-hunt against ex-RUC officers who were given an opportunity to 
take another job.  I have been contacted by some officers who feel that this is a witch-hunt against 
them.  I just want to put that on record. 
 
The Chairperson: I will allow Mr McKay and Mr McLaughlin to ask supplementary questions, and 
then we will take a comfort break. 
 
Mr McKay: Reference was made to the 2008 contract, but the report also makes some severe 
criticisms that the business case did not include the salary costs of temporary workers, the full costs 
put out to tender were never properly assessed and the business case was completed while the 
tendering process was at an advanced stage.  So, even at that stage, there were a lot of questionable 
practices in the procurement processes.  It is not a witch-hunt.  The majority of the report is about 
process and protocol, and that should be our focus.  It is not a witch-hunt against particular officers. 
According to the media reports, officers felt that politicians did not have a witch-hunt against them. 
They received phone calls asking, "Do you want to apply for a job?"  We want to know who made 
those phone calls.  There seems to be a lot of unanswered questions on those processes.  Do the 
police have any view on that? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I have two things to say, and I hope that I do not miss the point.  My 
understanding of paragraph 2.15 is that it was not a business case in the truest sense but an 
application for the drawdown of finance that had been made available as a result of the Patten 
recommendations to take forward the recruitment of staff.  It was not a business case; it was almost an 
authority to draw down the funding.  We need to distinguish between the two.  I am not completely 
across the detail of that, but I understand that it was not a business case in the truest sense.  Forgive 
me, Mr McKay, but could you repeat your second question? 
 
Mr McKay: Are you taking issue with the Audit Office? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is a definitional issue with the term "business case".  Maybe the deputy 
could clarify that. 
 
Mr Perry: Perhaps I could come in before Judith.  It was a business case in the sense that the 
Department understands it.  It was prepared late in the day because the Department required it to be.  
The police were already going through a competitive tendering process, which was the right thing to 
do.  I accept that the Department got it wrong when it did not insist on the inclusion of salary costs at 
that point, because I do not think, at that stage, that it was best practice not to include salary costs.  
The view was taken that the salary costs would be more or less the same irrespective of the recruiting 
agency. 
 
Mr McKay: Is that a problem across the Department, or is it specific to the PSNI or the human 
resources department in it? 
 
Mr Perry: The advice on whether salary costs should be included in a contract did not arise in many 
other contexts than policing.  However, the procurement guidance was not clear, and that is partly the 
Department's fault.  In 2004, the position of principle was not established.  In 2008, I do not think that 
either the police or the Department had available the clear guidance that they have now that it was not 
best practice to exclude salary costs.  In a sense, I am putting my hands up for the Department in that 
we were clear that there had to be a competitive process but we did not get that technical aspect right. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I will speak to your second question about phoning people locally 
who had just retired.  I want to preface my answer by clarifying that we understand the wider 
community confidence issue that that poses.  You said that the Committee is focusing on process, but, 
of course, some issues are bigger than mere process, such as the big-picture community confidence 
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issues.  I absolutely understand that.  I understand the perception that, in some cases, a process may 
lead to a perception of jobs for the boys.  I want to reassure this Committee that, since January 2011, 
we have had an extremely robust centrally monitored, gripped process for the appointment of 
associate staff.  The Chief Constable is on record saying that we could have exercised greater 
corporate grip prior to that.  However, I want to make it very clear that one of the success stories of the 
Patten transformational change programme, to which a number of Committee members have referred, 
was the devolution of decision-making to local command.  Actually, I can recall that, during my early 
service in the police, we frequently overspent our budget and had to go back to the Northern Ireland 
Office for a top up in-year because we were spending over our budget.  With the Patten devolution 
process, budgets were devolved to local command, where commanders had real ownership and grip 
of local decisions, they could buy in services locally and could make a lot more decisions that made an 
impact locally on the ground and enhanced community confidence.  Year on year, over the 10 years of 
the Patten change programme, we came in on budget.  That was a function of local devolution.   
 
Together with that locally devolved decision-making was the capacity for local commanders to buy in 
temporary staff.  They had to make a brief business case looking for the skills and abilities that they 
needed, whether those were policing skills or administrative skills.  I have a copy of the blank 
application form.  If the Committee would like to look at that, you are welcome to do so.  That would 
have been submitted through the head of business services and the head of human resources locally, 
either within the district or the Department, and would have gone to Grafton.  The trick that we missed 
was a lack of central grip.  We have acknowledged that.  We have acknowledged that that has had an 
impact on community confidence, and we have put steps in place to put that right.  It should not 
happen going forward; I want to assure the Committee of that. 

 
Mr McKay: Will you elaborate on that lack of central grip?  What was the issue that you were trying 
get a grip of?  You have not addressed the issue of all those officers who contacted the media — the 
whistle-blowers.  Who was contacting them, and why were they so offended by that process? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: If that was happening, it was likely to be happening locally with 
people who were leaving local branches or local stations and being asked whether they wanted to 
come back locally.  It is most unlikely, in my view, that that was happening centrally. 
 
Mr McKay: What do you mean when you say "locally"? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I mean from local stations or local branches of the PSNI. 
 
The Chairperson: Can you give us any information, by district, on where people were deployed?  
That would be helpful. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Yes; a breakdown by district and by branches has been supplied 
to the board, I believe, and we can certainly supply it to this Committee.  By the way, I have no 
evidence or proof.  What I have heard is only what I have heard in the media and through local 
storytelling.  Nobody has come to me with proof that people were headhunted for those jobs. 
 
Mr McKay: Just out of interest, did any of the whistle-blowers — those who are making those 
allegations — contact the police directly? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Did any of the people making the allegations about being 
approached locally come to the police? 
 
Mr McKay: Yes. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: They certainly did not come to my office or, as far as I am aware, 
to the professional standards department.  I can certainly confirm that, if it would be helpful to the 
Committee. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will just say again that we are certainly not going to stand over any 
unethical practice at all.  Awareness of whether something is coming up is a question of whether that 
is ethical, but the process of being registered with Grafton and being unable to do that under 
employment law is something that we do not have significant control over.  However, if there are 
examples of people having broken the rules, we are more than willing to investigate that and see 
whether someone should be held to account for that.   
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I have asked that we refer to the report, because, again, I am not going to stand over people staying 
for many years when their posts should have been reviewed, potentially turning it into a permanent 
staff post.  Some of the examples in the report, although relatively small in number, are not to be 
overlooked.  They are real examples of where grip should have been exercised.  In figure 12, you can 
see the overall picture, which shows that, in fairness to colleagues that went before, the vast majority 
of people were re-employed after a year's break from the organisation.  The concept is of people 
stepping away from a desk one day and stepping back on the Monday, but I think the number of 
people who returned within a day was something in the region of 19 or so out of 1,071.  I am not 
underestimating that problem.  I am not going to diminish it.  Where there is evidence of poor practice 
we will certainly be very willing to hear that and deal with it, but I have to put it in context to some 
degree, as the report itself does. 

 
Mr McKay: I have a final point.  It is to be welcomed that the Chief Constable has indicated that he 
would investigate such allegations.  However, given that those allegations are out there — they are 
out there in the media and in significant quantity — is the PSNI investigating them? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am afraid that I can only investigate what comes to our attention directly.  
There has been a lot of speculation in the media about this report.  That is why I am grateful for the 
Public Accounts Committee.  We are having a review of a line-by-line report that puts into context all 
the decision-making, both at the time and in relation to the PSNI's needs.  The report gives tables of 
numbers, which means that we can assess it objectively.   
 
Could I stand over every single decision?  Of course I could not.  The report is very clear about that.  
We have people staying in post for far too long when those posts should have been reviewed.  We 
had people coming back to jobs that might have been reviewed earlier, and certainly in 2007.  It was 
an internal report that said that corporate justification for the numbers was not there.  If allegations are 
being made out there, I would rather that people came to us with them through the Deputy Chief 
Constable's office so that we can have a look at them. 

 
Mr McKay: Surely, with the public being so aware of it, you should at least make initial inquiries into it. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am afraid that the media have very strong confidentiality agreements.  I 
cannot go and demand that the media tell me what people are saying.  Often that information is third, 
fourth or fifth hand.  Sometimes it is apocryphal, sometimes it is true.  The best way of dealing with it is 
for people to come to us through our confidential helpline and tell us what is going on. 
 
Mr Clarke: Do you not listen to Stephen Nolan? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is important to say that, in some cases, it was entirely justifiable 
that people finished a job and retired on Friday afternoon and came back on the Monday morning 
because the job that they were doing needed some additional time to be finished.  I will give the 
extremely sad example of the four colleagues who were killed in the Warrenpoint road traffic collision 
on 23 November 2008.  The senior investigating officer in that case retired some time after the 
accident happened and came back the following Monday to finish the coroner's inquest.  That made 
eminent sense for a whole lot of reasons:  investigative reasons, family liaison reasons, consistency 
and understanding of the complexities of the case.  Therefore, in some cases, we would stand by 
people walking out the door on a Friday and coming back on a Monday to finish an important job.  Can 
I stand over it in every single case?  Absolutely not.  However, in some cases, it was entirely 
justifiable. 
 
Mr McKay: There have been cases in which the police have approached the media, been rebuffed 
and have used other measures to get the information.  Have you made any initial approaches to the 
media on this issue? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me, but there is not a possibility of the media responding to that.  
They certainly will not.  They will not give us the names and details to investigate.  The allegation here 
is not one of criminal behaviour but of practice that probably does not stand up to public scrutiny.  If 
we have any evidence of that, we are happy to look at it.  It might improve our processes. 
 
What we are talking about is people becoming aware that jobs would become available, registering 
with Grafton and coming back.  I do not see any evidence in the report that people were able to 
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manufacture that.  I see a significant amount of the return of police officer skills being used in skilled 
police posts.  The tables show that.  In some areas, they obviously had the competence to do that.  I 
come back to the point that we accept fully that the corporate grip was not strong enough.  The 
justification has to be strong enough. 
 
To give you another reassurance on that, there is now a star chamber — I hate to use that term — 
chaired by the Assistant Chief Constable and a director of human resources, where every single 
request for a temporary post is scrutinised in great detail and people are asked whether they can 
justify something or why they cannot do it in a different way.  As you will see in the report, since that 
process was implemented at the beginning of 2011, the number of temporary staff has reduced 
significantly.  I have to say that that has been at some risk to the organisation.  We are pushing risks 
in respect of managing the business.  However, it is right that we do that. 

 
Mr Pollock: The reality of the situation was that there were temporary gaps.  It was very volatile and 
changing probably week by week.  The flaw that I see is that there was no public advertising.  
Therefore, it was grapevine stuff.  People would find out, by word of mouth, that Grafton was taking on 
temporary staff and would ask, "Have you been down there?" or "Have you put your CV in?"  It was a 
very different process to the process you would go through for permanent staff, where there would be 
an advertisement in the 'Belfast Telegraph' or wherever.  So, there is a process that people can link 
into.  I see that as being an important flaw at the time. 
 
The Chairperson: To go back to Mr McKay's point, Mr Baggott, if whistle-blowers were to come 
forward in the days and months ahead, would that be investigated? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes, if there is something in there that is illegal, but we have to distinguish 
between matters that are illegal and matters that are against the code of ethics as opposed to people 
not liking the process.  I understand the concerns around the recruitment of temporary staff, but we 
are a huge, complex organisation with an annual budget of £750 million.  Any organisation of this size 
would probably go about recruiting temporary staff in the same way, because they are temporary staff.  
If you were to advertise every single temporary post, you would need a huge back office of people to 
do that, and that in itself is not cost-effective.  I think that there are implications for this, but the issue to 
come back to is that if there is any evidence whatsoever of illegality or impropriety among serving 
people, the invitation is to give that to us and our professional standards department will investigate it. 
 
The Chairperson: Does your organisation have a whistle-blowing policy? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: We certainly do, yes, and it is overseen by the Deputy Chief Constable. 
 
Mr Copeland: Chief Constable, I ask about this out of curiosity.  A police officer, be they male or 
female, constable or sergeant, inspector or chief inspector, could leave work on Friday and come back 
to the same job on Monday.  However, although he may be the same person in the same job, the 
nature of the relationship between the person and the job will have changed.  On the Friday, he was a 
police officer carrying a warrant card that gave him certain protections and responsibilities, and, I 
presume, made him a signatory of the Official Secrets Act, although I am not sure whether that is still 
the case.  When he goes back on the Monday, he essentially comes back as a civilian.  How do you 
equate the rank he used to hold and the authority he exercised in the job that he did on the Friday with 
the person who takes the job on the Monday?  In policing terms, he essentially has no rank, no 
warrant card and perhaps no protection or authority to do the job he used to do because of the nature 
of the documents being dealt with.  Are you quite content that all those things are adequately 
covered?  It strikes me that there could have been scenarios whereby prosecutions took place on the 
basis or assumption that everybody involved was a police officer who was entitled to do that sort of 
stuff when they actually might not have been.  Does that open up the possibility of challenge to some 
of the decisions that flow from that? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is about whether people came back to the same job, and the vast 
majority did not.  There was a need, as the Deputy Chief Constable said, for continuity in some of 
those roles as opposed to powers.  We are talking about roles here, not the exercise of power.  For 
example, part of modern investigative practice is to have what we call a mixed-economy team of 
investigators, where you have assistant investigators who do not necessarily have to exercise the 
powers of the constable but who are doing investigative work in relation to research and analysis.  So, 
it very much depends on the role, as opposed to the power, that people have.  As the report identifies, 
you can use policing skills very ably in a way that does not require an exercise of authority or 
warranted powers.  You could also have police officers coming back who may have competencies that 
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the organisation needs.  That might be driving duties or administrative jobs.  There is a difference 
between skill and competence, if that makes sense. 
 
Mr Copeland: I thought that one of the justifications for this was to bring people back to do the same 
job that they had done previously.  Now I understand. 
 
Mr Clarke: I want to follow on from Daithí's questions about some of the conspiracy theories out there 
and the whistle-blowers.  There are some people with big egos out there.  I have my own theory on 
this, Chief Constable.  I think it is possibly sour grapes in some cases, because some people did not 
get re-employed, and that makes it very easy for them.  This week, I listened to one character, Mr 
McQuillan, who was very critical of the service and how this came about.  Yet and all — 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: You are going to get our office cost allowance cut again.  [Laughter.]  
 
Mr Clarke: When the question on that whistle-blower — if he wants to call himself that — was 
pursued, it was discovered that he was involved in the governance section of the PSNI at that time.  I 
thought that that was a bit ironic.  He made a very good career out of the Police Service after he left it.  
I think some of the people who want to make suggestions now have sour grapes because they did not 
get the particular post that they were after at a particular time, and some of them did not get rehired 
full stop. 
 
The Chairperson: I am certainly not aware of who the whistle-blowers are. 
 
Mr McQuillan: I have a question on the back of the Chief Constable's reply to Michael.  Was that not 
a lack of planning by the senior police officers at that time?  There was scope within Patten to use the 
red circle.  Why was that not used more often than it was?  It was hardly ever used. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: There were very tight restrictions on the use of red circling.  In effect, that 
meant that only 17 people could be red circled.  That is a very small percentage, so I think that created 
its own problems in relation to restriction.  I think the overall aim, quite rightly, was to move to 50:50 
recruitment in order to make the organisation more representative.  With that, the critical challenge 
was to get people to exit the organisation.  If red circling had been extended beyond the 17, it might 
have made that more problematic, but it had a consequence, which then kicked into the use of 
temporary staff to fill some of those posts. 
 
Mr McQuillan: I think that that would have been better than where we find ourselves today. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Perhaps the Committee will want to get into this in greater depth, 
because succession planning was a huge challenge during the 10 years of the Patten change 
process.  During that time, our human resources department dealt with over 80,000 transactions of 
police officers and police staff yet maintained a level of performance, which is now at the highest level 
that it has been in the organisation for many, many years.  I think that Mitchel said that it would be 
miraculous if some issue did not come out of managing transformational change, but when you think 
of the big picture of the transformational change that was achieved, you can see that it is truly 
remarkable. 
 
I want to mention one department in particular:  the crime operations department.  At the moment, it is 
quite a large consumer of temporary associate staff.  In 2006, the then Assistant Chief Constable in 
charge of crime operations, Peter Sheridan, and Michael Cox, the deputy head of human resources, 
went to the Policing Board with a plan as to how we were going to deal with the huge skill and 
experience gap that was emerging in crime operations.  They were planning ahead.  They knew that, 
in 2008, we were likely to lose around 250 experienced staff.  That is the loss of about 19% of the 
crime operations department in one year alone.  In 2006, they went to the board with a plan that was 
moving away quite radically from previous recommendations made by Her Majesty's Inspectorate of 
Constabulary (HMIC) reports; the Blakey, Compton and Stevens reports.  I am sure those will be 
available to the Committee, should members think they would be helpful. 
 
Those reports had recommended that any detective going into the crime operations department, 
particularly in intelligence gathering, had to have a number of years' experience in normal detective 
work.  Inevitably, that meant that there was a time lag between someone joining the PSNI, getting their 
probationary period under their belt, going into a detective branch and then being eligible to apply for 
certain parts of the crime operations department.  There was an almost inevitable time lag of four or 
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five years.  The Assistant Chief Constable and the deputy director of HR went to the board and 
presented a plan that removed, radically, the requirement for people to have served that time in the 
ordinary criminal investigation department so that they could get into other specialisms in the crime 
operations department without that experience.  The board was understandably concerned about that, 
but it accepted the strategy and moved it forward.   
 
So, we were doing a lot of work and putting a lot of thought and effort into planning ahead.  Some 
8,000 people walked out the door, with tremendous experience going out the door with them.  We 
should not be surprised that we had to buy some of that experience back.  Did we get it right in every 
case?  No, we did not. 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: I know we are going to have a break, but I would like to take that into the 
here and now and talk about the crime operations department and its resilience and sustainability in 
dealing with the growing organised crime threats.  We have had a lot of success this year against that, 
alongside dealing with quite a significant backlog of legacy cases, which we are, quite rightly, obliged 
to deal with under article 2 of the Human Rights Act.  Alongside that, we are meeting some of the 
other problems of people trafficking.  That is the major risk on our corporate risk register.  Over the 
next few years, we could see a significant number of people retire, so the challenges in managing our 
operational capability are still very real.  Maybe this is an opportune moment to say that that is why we 
welcome this report.  It gives us, along with the Policing Board, an opportunity to enter into a new way 
of seeing finance and HR together.  The board is doing its own restructuring alongside understanding 
some of the pragmatism that we have to employ here. 
 
The Chairperson: Thank you, Mr Baggott.  You will acknowledge that it is a very damning report, and, 
you know, it took that to — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I have to say that the report does not use the word "damning".  It does not 
use the word "failure".  It talks about not always meeting the high standards.  I think I need to be clear 
for the record about what the report actually says. 
 
The Chairperson: In the interest of public money, that is what the public are saying. 
 
Mr Clarke: Not all of them. 
 
The Chairperson: Well, I have heard that.   
 
OK, we will have a comfort break for 10 minutes. 

 
Committee suspended. 

 
On resuming — 

 
The Chairperson: I would like to welcome everybody back after that comfort break.  Hopefully, we will 
get through business as quickly as we can.  We had a long evening yesterday, and I am sure that 
members will be keen to get away this evening. 
 
Mr Girvan: We are just getting used to it. 
 
Mr Copeland: I have two questions and a couple of supplementaries, but before moving to those, can 
I ask for your opinion of the legal status of a document that is signed by someone who does not have 
the authority to sign it, be it a contract or — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think it would depend.  It probably remains a legal document if it is signed 
with the authority of the organisation. 
 
Mr Copeland: What if the person who signed it did not have the authority of the organisation? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: If it was signed without permission or approval, I suspect that it probably 
would not be legally sound. 
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Mr Copeland: Bearing that in mind, in paragraph 2.12, a recruitment officer with delegated authority to 
approve spending of up to £100,000 appears to have authorised a contract variation that increased 
the spend by £4·6 million in the first year.  How does that happen?  I know from service in the army 
and the way that the Civil Service works that the hardest thing to get anybody to do is to sign 
something that places on them a responsibility.  Someone appears to have appended, improperly 
perhaps, a document that resulted in the expenditure of £4·6 million of public money when he was 
only authorised to sign something that would cover expenditure of up to £100,000. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Firstly, my understanding is that this was a mistake that was discovered by 
our own internal audit in relation to the delegation for signing.  My assumption is that although the 
signature was by the recruitment manager, the actual approach and contract would have been 
approved at a higher level, so it was more about a mistake in relation to the level of signatory required, 
as opposed to the legitimacy of the contract. 
 
Mr Copeland: It has no implications at all? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Not as far as I am aware. 
 
Mr Copeland: You said "assumption", which is a fairly wide term. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Not as far as I am aware.  I do not think it undermined the legitimacy of the 
contract.  It should have been signed at a higher level.  That is about taking responsibility and making 
sure that it is justified.  However, I have no evidence that the contract was not legitimate and was not 
necessary. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is right to say that we readily accept that it was a mistake and 
that it should not have been signed at that level.  The mistake was picked up by an internal audit 
review, and it made recommendations that we have since addressed.  Since that time, we have 
introduced training across the organisation that should make sure that such a mistake does not 
happen again.  It was a human mistake. 
 
Mr Copeland: Did the person who signed the document — who committed, coincidentally, the 
expenditure of the £4·6 million that, presumably, would have been expended anyway — make the 
decision to do that himself?  Was he told to do it?  Was there a request to do it?  If he was only 
authorised to be involved in the expenditure of up to £100,000, was it known at the time that the 
document was signed that the amount of money involved was £4·6 million? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am afraid that I do not have the answer to that.  The £4·6 million includes 
salary cost, but the actual level was lower.  It should not have been signed.  That was picked up by 
internal audit.  It does not undermine the legitimacy of the contract, but it should have been signed at a 
higher level. 
 
Mr Copeland: That is an assumption rather than — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is an assumption, yes. 
 
Mr Copeland: Is it worthwhile to get confirmation on both those points? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am very happy to get factual confirmation of that. 
 
Mr Copeland: Forgive me for asking, but was there any question at any stage of any personal 
relationship that might have influenced the occurrence?  We have had cases before this Committee 
involving contracts for other government bodies — maintenance contracts, all sorts of things — and 
there were similar occurrences where it was subsequently identified that the person who had been 
responsible for authorising the expenditure may have been known to, connected with or enjoyed 
inappropriate hospitality with another person involved.  Is there any suggestion of that or was it ever 
investigated?  Was the decision, as you have said, a pure mistake? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I have no evidence to the contrary. 
 
Mr Copeland: Was it ever factored in as a matter of consideration? 
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Chief Constable Baggott: I am not aware of that. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: No suggestion was ever made to me or to the Chief Constable of 
any inappropriate relationship.  I want to be very clear with this Committee and provide you with the 
assurance that our procurement policy makes it very clear that if any there is any conflict of interest, 
real or perceived, it should be declared at an early stage in the process to mitigate the risk.  I cannot 
speak about this case; I do not know.  There has certainly never been any suggestion of it to me or to 
the Chief Constable, but, going forward, we take that very seriously.  It is not just a question of fact.  It 
is also a question of how it looks and of perception, and that is addressed in our current procurement 
policy. 
 
Mr Copeland: Mr Pollock — I apologise; you are too close at hand — paragraph 2.14 states that the 
Policing Board had difficulty getting to the bottom of the issue over a number of years.  Have any 
lessons been learned either on the board or in the nature of the relationship between the board and 
the police, particularly on how the board goes about the business of scrutinising the police? 
 
Mr Pollock: As I indicated earlier, the main concerns seemed to be expressed through the human 
resource committee.  Those concerns were dealt with in a number of ways, and, in a lot of cases, 
questions were asked of the Chief Constable at the private or public sessions each month.  That 
tended to be a regular feature.  There were presentations, as the deputy mentioned earlier, by Grafton 
and by human resources in the PSNI.  They were fairly general presentations to clarify information or 
to allay fears and did not necessarily get into the finer detail.  There was certainly correspondence in 
which, as I said earlier, the human resource committee asked the audit committee to take it up 
formally.  It was taken up formally, but the response was not substantial.  The chief executive then 
took up the matter on the procurement process on 30 March 2005.  The board was led to believe that 
there were two separate procurement processes and two separate contracts, and that was not correct.  
That was only clarified months later through correspondence between the chief executive and the 
Deputy Chief Constable.  So there was always — or there appeared to be — a struggle to get 
accurate and full information.  Lastly, I indicate the persistent question as to whether former officers 
were just being recruited as temporary staff willy-nilly.  The response to that was initially that we had 
no right to ask about or to know the personnel data of temporary staff, nor did we have any right to ask 
Grafton to tell us what the profile may be.  That tended to be the tone of the relationship. 
 
Mr Copeland: Can I press you slightly on the issue of the contracts?  Would the Policing Board have 
had sight of the initial contract and the contract as varied as a matter of course, or would that have 
always remained within the PSNI? 
 
Mr Pollock: My examination of the records, albeit in a very short space of time, certainly indicated to 
me that it did not. 
 
Mr Copeland: In your view, should it have? 
 
Mr Pollock: Absolutely, and that is where the recommendations of the auditor are very helpful.  There 
is a very clear view on my part, as an accounting officer, in my advice to the board, that the audit 
committee must work together proactively with the audit committee of the PSNI on the 
recommendations that have been made, and must at all times be able to satisfy the board and give 
assurances to Mr Perry as the overriding accounting officer that we are managing and handling public 
money with regularity and propriety, as it should be. 
 
Mr Copeland: Were the contracts standard contracts or were they written specifically for this, as far as 
you are aware? 
 
Mr Pollock: The contract that I referred to earlier appears to reflect a standard tendering specification.  
My only concern as an accounting officer, as I expressed earlier, was that it was a job of a very 
different nature that Grafton was being asked to do in relation to temporary staff as distinct from what 
that contract drew a boundary around, which was for permanent staff. 
 
Mr Copeland: Again, I am asking you for an opinion.  Did the requirement to see those contracts 
reside with the PSNI, which held the contracts?  In other words, was it up to the PSNI to bring them to 
you or was it up to you to ask the PSNI? 
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Mr Pollock: The Chief Constable is accountable to the Department on matters of resources.  In my 
view, the tri-part governance is extremely important.  The board has an overriding right to oversee and 
inquire into the effectiveness, the efficiency, the value for money and the economy of the operations of 
the PSNI.  That is the relationship that the board was developing, and I believe that it is now a mature 
and well-developed relationship.  We know our respective duties and responsibilities, in the 
Department, the board and the PSNI corporate. 
 
Mr Copeland: Again, in simple terms, was the onus on them to supply you with the information or was 
the onus on you to ask for it? 
 
Mr Pollock: In my view, the onus is not on them to supply the information.  The onus is on the board 
to ask for it, to monitor it and to ask for a report.  There is no question that questions were asked. 
 
Mr Dallat: I refer you to paragraph 2.18 of the Audit Office report.  You will see there that the Central 
Procurement Directorate raised concerns about the value of the contract variation for Historical 
Enquiries Team staff in 2009.  Why did you ignore CPD's advice? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: There are two reasons that I have been provided with.  The first comes 
back to this point again around whether salary cost inclusion is a relevant factor.  The guidance on 
that had still not been clarified.  The actual fee being paid, without salary cost inclusion, does not go 
above £420,000 to £490,000 per annum, which keeps it within the less than 10% before it gets notified 
to the Department of Justice category, so there was an interpretation of that.   
 
Secondly, when the contract came to an end, there was a need for business continuity.  As such, it 
seemed like an operationally pragmatic solution to reach, so as not to disrupt and end the work of the 
Historical Enquiries Team.  Therefore, one was an issue of procurement and the other was an issue of 
business continuity in relation to the work of HET. 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: There was one other practical point, also.  Our internal legal 
advice was that any attempt to tender for the provision of staff for HET might be deemed a significant 
risk in terms of legal challenge by Grafton, which already held the contract for temporary staff.  Your 
question, John, was "why was the advice ignored?"  It was considered.  CPD advice is always 
seriously considered and, in the vast majority of cases, followed.  However, in this particular case, it 
was adjudged that the greater risk was the impact operationally on HET, and, secondly, the risk of 
challenge from Grafton. 
 
Mr Dallat: OK.  That throws some light on it.  You are saying that it was not ignored, but the advice 
that you were given was that it was open to different interpretation and there was the fear of Grafton.  
It is a very powerful organisation.  It is almost as powerful as the police.  Maybe you should not 
answer that.   
 
I have a follow-up question for Ms Hamill.  Did CPD follow up its concerns about the potential increase 
in the value of the Grafton contract to ensure that the PSNI acted in accordance with the procurement 
guidance? 

 
Ms Fiona Hamill (Department of Finance and Personnel): No.  The relationship that CPD has with 
organisations is one of guidance and advice under the service level agreement.  The responsibility for 
correctly delivering the contract remains with the contracting organisation — in this case, the PSNI.  
So CPD would not have pursued it.  It is simply a function of the volume of contracts that CPD is 
processing every year, but there is a clear responsibility under the service level agreement with, in this 
instance, the PSNI. 
 
Mr Dallat: In light of that, how can you be sure that public bodies take your advice in future? 
 
Ms Hamill: That is one of the challenges that CPD faces because its remit is to give advice and 
guidance.  The answer is through accountability arrangements such as this Committee, which 
reinforce the importance of following that guidance from a regularity and propriety point of view. 
 
Mr Dallat: Surely, there is something seriously wrong when you can give advice, but if people do not 
take the advice, it is not your responsibility anyway. 
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Ms Hamill: We cannot police — I agree with you.  That is the delegated process.  That is why we 
have accounting officers in place who take on that responsibility at a personal level. 
 
Mr Dallat: Chairperson, I think this is an issue that we need to discuss at another time with the Audit 
Office and perhaps with the head of the Department of Finance and Personnel.  This is not the first 
time that this particular issue has come up where the responsibility is only to give advice but not to see 
it through.  That is a major weakness across a number of Departments.   
 
You have answered the next part of my question, which was whether, if the PSNI or a Department 
ignores your advice, there is nothing you can do. 

 
Ms Hamill: Can we stop them from signing a contract against our advice?  No. 
 
Mr Dallat: That is a revelation that is bound to worry a lot of people.  There is no one there to close 
the stable door.   
 
Permanent secretary, this has been ventilated in other places.  Paragraph 2.24 states that 64 
temporary staff are being paid through limited companies.  That is a big number.  It is phenomenal.  
Although the PSNI may see no value-for-money issues with that practice, it almost certainly means 
income lost to the public purse in unpaid tax.  As accounting officer, were you aware of those 
arrangements?  Are you happy for them to continue?  Is that a superfluous question? 

 
Mr Perry: I was not aware of those arrangements.  The Department, like the PSNI, does not support 
tax avoidance and schemes that are designed to avoid paying tax.  None of our directly employed staff 
is paid in that way.  As the report recommends, we will need to review that situation.  The report 
acknowledges that that practice is not illegal; at least, not yet.  DFP is doing some central work and 
looking at this issue across Departments and the public sector. 
 
Mr Dallat: In future, would the PSNI hesitate to accept private limited companies as a method of 
payment? 
 
Mr Perry: It is Grafton that is accepting that arrangement, not the PSNI directly. 
 
Mr Dallat: Apologies. 
 
Mr Perry: The Chief Constable, the board and the Department of Justice wish to look at the issue, but, 
as I said, DFP is carrying out a central review of the issue.  Therefore, we will need to carry out any 
review that we do against the backdrop of that DFP exercise and the advice that comes from it. 
 
Mr Dallat: It is something that we would be extremely interested in.  We do not wish to promote a do-
it-yourself private limited company that might spread, given that we are having extreme difficulty 
paying for health, education and everything else from taxes.  I have no more questions, but I repeat 
what I said at the beginning:  this is a historic occasion.  It is a privilege to be able to question the 
police on how they spend our money and how they deliver the service. 
 
Ms Hamill: With reference to what the accounting officer said about tax arrangements for individuals, 
we have been working on that issue with colleagues in the Treasury over the past six months.  At the 
moment, we are re-surveying Departments and public bodies to find out whether any of those 
arrangements exist.  In addition, we are looking at situations, such as this case, in which the 
arrangements may not be with a public body but with an employment agency or other intermediary 
body.  We are working with Central Procurement Directorate to look at additional requirements that we 
could place into contracts to protect against any tax avoidance. 
 
Mr Dallat: Can we have a progress report on that?  Can we have the information that you have 
collected?  Although this applies to people who worked for the PSNI, the Public Accounts Committee 
would be very keen to know the extent of the practice, where it exists and what should be done to 
remove it.  All of us pay our taxes through pay as you earn — PAYE.  That is what we accept.  A 
serious principle is involved when people avoid tax by setting up limited companies. 
 
Ms Hamill: I am very happy to provide that information.  The survey will be complete at the end of 
October, so I hope to have something for the Committee some time in November. 
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Mr Clarke: I have two very small supplementaries.  They follow on from where John is at.  Ms Hamill 
said that she cannot prevent someone from ignoring the procurement guidelines.  In the absence of 
you being able to stop them, is there something that you can do?  Is there a mechanism that you can 
use? 
 
Ms Hamill: If an organisation failed to follow the procurement guidelines, it would be a question of 
whether those procurement guidelines were derived from a statutory responsibility.  There is an 
argument that the expenditure could be illegal.  Therefore, the expenditure would be irregular and 
would be brought to the attention of the Committee and the House.  In other circumstances, no.  We 
would have to look at the matter very seriously in terms of — 
 
Mr Clarke: No, I want to try to nail this down.  You said you cannot stop someone from not taking 
notice of your guidelines.  What can you do if they are not followed? 
 
Ms Hamill: If Central Procurement Directorate felt that a serious issue was emerging, the matter 
would have to be referred to the procurement board, which is chaired by the Minister of Finance and 
Personnel and the permanent secretaries. 
 
Mr Clarke: When you were made aware that the Police Service had not followed your guidelines, did 
you do anything at that time? 
 
Ms Hamill: No; CPD has not indicated that it did anything. 
 
Mr Clarke: So, there is a failing on CPD's part as well.  Given that you have a mechanism to do 
something, that there are guidelines and that you are aware that the guidelines were not followed, 
CPD failed to do something afterwards. 
 
Ms Hamill: In this instance, CPD considered that the extension to the contract was such that 
consideration should have been given to re-tender.  At the end of the day, CPD will allow 
organisations to make a business decision — 
 
Mr Clarke: I will take you back to where you said that there is a trigger point for you to do something if 
they did not take your advice.  It sounds as if CPD also failed to do anything when it knew that the 
Police Service was outside the bounds of the contracts.  If you do not have the mechanism to stop 
something, but you have the mechanism to report something and flag it up, you failed to do that, so, in 
my eyes, that is a failure.   
 
The other point is tax avoidance.  Go back to paragraph 91 of Patten.  Although it has not been 
deemed illegal, which it is not, it is either legal or illegal, and I have not heard anyone today say that it 
is illegal.  I think that in questions from the Audit Office last week, it was described as not being illegal, 
but as maybe not being best practice.  I think those are the phrases the Audit Office used.  Paragraph 
91 of the Patten report allows for the set up of private sector companies.  It is in the spirit of Patten.  
Quite a few people in this room pushed Patten when it was set on the table, and now some people are 
critical of that aspect of it, and I do not believe that we can start to cherry-pick.  It is there, it is in black-
and-white:  paragraph 91 allows for buyout contracts to be set up.  Nowhere does it say that those 
individuals have to be employed individually by the Police Service.  I think we are making something 
out of nothing on this one.  It is only an observation. 

 
Mr Dallat: That was not the purpose of asking the question.  If we are not in agreement with this, it 
might be useful if we sought clarification from Revenue and Customs, because I suspect that there is 
a tax-avoidance thing here.  The facility to set up a private company was used by individuals who, let 
us face it, were not running companies; they were working, the same as any other person, Monday to 
Friday.  That is the issue. 
 
Mr Perry: Whatever the particular instances and formal powers, the Department has had a strategic 
procurement board since 2010 on which CPD sits, because CPD is the centre of procurement 
excellence for the DOJ group of organisations.  Certainly, if any organisation was failing to take CPD 
advice, I hope that they would raise that with me as accounting officer.  However, that is an 
administrative arrangement rather than a formal one. 
 
Mr Clarke: Sorry, was advice not given in 2004? 
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Mr Perry: Well — 
 
Mr Clarke: Was there advice in relation to 2004 and the variation of the contract? 
 
Mr Perry: In 2004, there was a procurement unit providing — 
 
Mr Clarke: What did the procurement department do in relation to the guidance that it gave the Police 
Service at that time about whether to proceed? 
 
Mr Perry: At that point, its advice was only advisory, and it — 
 
Mr Clarke: So, it failed to do anything at that time? 
 
Mr Perry: The issue was in 2009, and I am not aware that — 
 
Mr Clarke: No, I am talking about 2004:  when the variation of the contract happened in 2004, CPD 
was aware that the variation was being made and it said that the variation of the procurement, of how 
this was done — 
 
Mr Perry: The procurement unit's advice was not definitive.  It was, in a sense, left to the police to 
make their own judgement, and — 
 
Mr Clarke: So, there was a failing within the procurement department at that time, given that the 
Police Service are the people who are setting up a contract to employ people.  It is the procurement 
department that looks at contractual arrangements, and it did not stop the Police Service at that 
particular time from continuing with that agreement, so the procurement department failed.  Yes or no? 
 
Mr Perry: It did not say that the police could not — 
 
Mr Clarke: It failed.  OK. 
 
Mr Girvan: Have any other constabularies in the United Kingdom engaged in paying staff through 
limited companies?  My understanding is that there are several examples of that on the UK mainland. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I need to repeat two points of clarification.  These staff are not employed 
directly by the PSNI.  They are employed by Grafton.  There would be a legal challenge if I, as Chief 
Constable, tried to interfere in private taxation arrangements, particularly those paid through a limited 
company.  Clearly, if advice comes out from HMRC to clarify this, we will follow it exactly.   
 
Another matter is that if I were to end the contracts, I would have to employ them as permanent staff 
at this moment in time.  That would add significantly to the wage bill, because I would be employing 
them for an open-ended time.  So, there are more complications.   
 
I am unaware of how many other constabularies are involved in such arrangements.  I will take your 
advice on that. 

 
The Chairperson: I inform members that, on 5 October, the Westminster Public Accounts Committee 
reported on staff in the public sector being paid through limited companies and found that it was not 
proper use of public money for public sector employees not to be taxed.  This Committee can look at 
the recommendations coming out of that report. 
 
Mr Clarke: Does it state that they are not paying tax through the private limited companies? 
 
The Chairperson: They are not being fully taxed. 
 
Mr Clarke: That is what it says.  Again, we are now taking advice from something that was tabled late.  
Could we get a copy of that?   
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There is really a witch-hunt against the police here.  Take the services that a police station or any 
public sector organisation uses.  When painting contractors are brought in, they come in through a 
company.  How do they pay tax?  When cleaning services are brought into a police station or another 
government building, how do they pay tax?  You do not go out and say, "I will hire that painter, that 
painter, that painter, that electrician and that electrician."  You bring in companies, and the workers 
pay tax through those companies.   
 
I do not really want to be involved in a conversation in which we are implying that people who come 
through Grafton or any other company to work for the Police Service or any other government agency 
are not paying tax.  We are going down a very difficult route.  I would like to see the full content of the 
document.  It is easy to pick out a few words and twist them whatever way you wish.  I would like to 
see the full document that that extract came from. 

 
The Chairperson: The Westminster Public Accounts Committee reported this on 5 October.  We will 
look at whatever information we can get and whatever is available. 
 
Mr Dallat: I am very conscious that this hearing is being recorded.  This is not a witch-hunt against the 
police.  I made that perfectly clear at the beginning of the meeting.  I feel a little bit peeved that those 
words were used.  They might be better withdrawn.  I have the highest admiration for the police.  This 
is no witch-hunt. 
 
Mr Clarke: Do you hear me, John?  I will not withdraw them, and I stand over them.  It feels as if it is a 
witch-hunt. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Clarke, address any response to Mr Dallat through the Chair. 
 
Mr Clarke: Do you want me to repeat it? 
 
The Chairperson: No.  I do not believe that any member around this table is on a witch-hunt against 
the PSNI. 
 
Mr Dallat: Thank you, Chairperson.  That is good enough for me. 
 
Mr Clarke: I am entitled to my opinion, also. 
 
Mr Anderson: How are we to decide how any limited company sets up?  Companies have to do their 
annual returns at the end of each financial year.  It is up to HMRC to decide whether they are paying 
the correct tax or not paying tax.  How can we, as a Committee, get into the whole scenario that 
limited companies are in some way carrying out shenanigans of not paying tax?  We cannot go down 
that road.  We cannot say that.  Why are we, as a Committee, going down the road of even 
considering limited companies?  They will deal with HMRC in the proper manner.  It is not up to us as 
a Committee to do that.  If HMRC finds any discrepancies, it will deal with those.  That is not up to us. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Anderson, a paper has been tabled that indicates that there was not the proper 
use of public money.  That is where this has gone. 
 
Mr Anderson: I have concerns about getting into this. 
 
The Chairperson: We will look at the recommendations from Westminster, and we will sit down as a 
Committee and have a conversation on that. 
 
Mr Anderson: We need to get some good, firm information on what is coming out to allow us to go 
down that road.  I will back my colleague up. 
 
Mr Clarke: Could we see how Assembly Members are paid as well?  They have been paid through 
other mechanisms, and I want to know whether that was fully taxable and how they got their industrial 
wage. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Clarke, we are not here to question Assembly Members. 
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Mr Clarke: We are talking about taxable pay.  Members here are concerned about tax avoidance.  
There are 30-odd Members in here who are avoiding tax, if you want to go down that route. 
 
The Chairperson: I will bring in Ms Fiona Hamill. 
 
Ms Hamill: The issue about tax is not tax avoidance; it is reducing individuals' tax burdens.  Last 
autumn, it was discovered that the chief executive and accounting officer of the Student Loans 
Company, rather than having his salary paid through the payroll, was having his salary paid to a 
private company, and, by virtue of that, he created a system where he could reduce his personal tax 
liability.  That is what we are looking at.  The coalition Government are concerned that people who 
hold senior public offices are not being paid through the payroll system but, instead, through limited 
companies or private service companies.  It is not tax evasion; it is about individuals having salary 
payment arrangements that minimise tax.  The view is that minimising the tax due on a public 
appointment is not really proper and that you should pay the full tax due.  We are looking to resolve 
that.  It is not about anything more.  It is certainly not about investigating limited companies, and so 
forth. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: We should remind ourselves that we are discussing a particular context and 
time frame, including the arrangements with Grafton.  There is probably value in hearing from the 
Central Procurement Directorate about why that arrangement was permitted, when we consider the 
quantum of public money that was involved, which was £44 million over a four-year period before 
there was a competition.   
 
There is an issue about the revolving door.  We have heard about people who stepped out the door 
and, within one day, were back as associates, and we may come to further discussion on that.  I am 
aware that some colleagues have questions down, so I do not want to tread on their toes.  There were 
people who worked in the RUC and transferred across to the PSNI with many years' experience.  We 
have heard the rationale for some of those expedient measures, such as the crisis of losing vital skills.  
However, people turned up within days, having formed a company to be consultants.  It is not a witch-
hunt; those are legitimate issues.  It is ridiculous to raise this to a confrontational level given the sum 
of money involved and given that we have evidence before us that best practice was not applied.  We 
hear a willingness from the witnesses to accept that we have to end those early practices and apply 
best practice going forward. 

 
Mr Rogers: Apologies for being late and having to go out again.  Sometimes you lose your questions 
even if you are here.  [Laughter.]  I welcome you and thank you for the clarity that you have given, 
even in the case of the tragedy at Warrenpoint, where two of those lads were close neighbours of 
mine.   
 
PSNI governance is mentioned at paragraph 3.1.  The question has been answered to some extent.  
We all know the benefits of devolved authority.  You mentioned, Chief Constable, the consequences 
of a rigid way of managing an organisation and said that, with devolved authority, you maybe need 
more checks and balances.  Do you believe that there was a lack of strategic oversight of that area 
among senior people in HR and finance? 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: I do not.  I probably would not personalise it in that way to one department 
or another.  I think that this was an organisational consequence of a number of factors coming 
together, one of which was, as I mentioned, a very rigid adherence to following the Patten route map 
and the more than 700 recommendations.  That probably lost sight of something around the spirit of 
Patten and how that was playing out in public confidence.   
 
Secondly, as we have identified, there were some issues around the comprehensive spending review 
in 2007.  Plans that were made had to be changed very quickly.  I think that Patten was very clear.  I 
know that my predecessor held to that very firmly because I understand that there was a debate in 
2007 about whether there should be a greater central grip.  In fact, it was decided that that may 
breach the spirit of Patten in relation to that recommendation, which said that there should be local 
ownership of services and recruitment and those issues.  They held to that and issued revised 
guidance instead.   
 
We must be fair on this.  The numbers stayed at about 6·8% of the total in 2007.  Undoubtedly, it was 
growing, but it was at 6·8%.  I think that that was a consequence of a variety of factors coming 
together.  Those factors were probably not predictable at the time, but they became a matter of 
concern.  That report by HR in 2007 led, in time, to a readjustment in 2009 with the strategic policing 
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review.  Then, when we got to devolution, that enabled me, with great support from the Policing Board 
and the Executive, to look again at the Department of Justice and the whole planning framework and 
to negotiate a four-year stable planning framework, rather than the short-term measures that had to be 
taken.   
 
I know that you would expect me to say this, but, for the sake of fairness and objectivity, I do not think 
that it is right to point the finger at any one part of the organisation.  I think that it was a number of very 
significant strategic decisions made over time which, in 2007, culminated in a concern that the 
numbers were running out of control.   
 
I would add to that some of the bureaucratic burdens at the time.  It is a huge privilege to come off, to 
some degree, the rigid adherence to the criminal justice review of 2001, because we are now getting a 
97% satisfaction from victims, simply by officers being able to exercise common sense without all the 
paperwork.  At the time, that process had to be serviced by a significant administrative structure.  All 
those things were playing out at the same time.   
 
I think that they reviewed it in 2007.  Perhaps, the deputy will have some insight on that.  We had not 
got to the point of the devolution of policing and justice.  That did not take place until April 2010.  They 
made the decision that completing the Patten route map was absolutely essential to that, and there 
was going to be no deviation from that whatsoever, in spite of the fact that it was starting to look a bit 
difficult. 

 
Mr Rogers: You are saying that lessons were learned. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think that they have been.  I am in a very privileged position of being able 
to lead in a different time.  I have to pay credit to the Policing Board for the additional scrutiny that it is 
applying.  That scrutiny is absolutely necessary.  The Policing Board is now inclusive in a way that it 
was not in 2007.  There are different questions being asked and different perspectives being put.  I 
hope that the Committee is very encouraged not only by our own response to this but by the Policing 
Board, which is looking at restructuring, so that it brings finance and human resources in one place.  
That means that we do not have to service two committees about the same issue anymore.  We are 
having a good look at the information flows to see what I am entitled to provide legally and that which I 
am not.  That is a significant piece of work as well.   
 
There has been a step change in the oversight, and there has been a step change in the financial 
planning regime for four years.  We received an extra investment, which, again, was hugely supported 
by the Executive.  It has enabled me to deal with new threats with a greater degree of resilience.  All 
that has been very important.  I would not want the Committee to underestimate the degree of change 
that has taken place since — I said it before — the prize of devolution.  Those oversight arrangements 
have significantly tightened up. 

 
Mr Rogers: How many professionally qualified HR people are there in the force? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I do not know the exact number.  When we moved from 29 
districts to eight districts, when we restructured ahead of the review of public administration, some said 
that it was a very bold and, perhaps, ill-judged move.  On reflection, however, it was the right thing to 
do at the time.  If we had not done it, we would still be sitting with 29 districts with a hugely top-heavy, 
inefficient structure.   
We cut a significant number of positions of rank out of the service because of that restructuring 
process, which happened in 2006-07.  With that restructuring came the appointment, through open 
competition, of heads of human resources to advise each of the district commanders and each of the 
heads of branch on human resource matters.  I am guessing that there would have been around 16 of 
those, although that is just an educated guess.  It is there or thereabouts.   
 
Since that time, we have reduced the number of those staff.  Again, that was to reduce management 
on-costs.  Those staff, along with heads of business services to advise commanders on such issues 
as procurement and contract management, which is very germane to our discussion today, were 
appointed around 2007 through open competition. 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: For clarity, we, again, have been very ably supported by the Policing 
Board in a completely new direction for the policing plan.  It is now set out very clearly in respect of 
quality of service, tackling local concerns and organised crime.  Underneath that, three years ago, we 
established a series of long-term programme boards, which are chaired by senior members of the 
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PSNI, upon which the Policing Board members now sit.  That is quite radical.  As far as I am aware, 
we have not had a situation before in which the Policing Board has sat on major programmes of 
organisational improvement as observers and trusted advisers.   
 
So, the depth and breadth of change is not just around the four-year planning regime.  It is also about 
being able, within the policing plan, to plan major programmes of work.  In relation to that, we have 
been working alongside KPMG, with its business expertise, to help us identify further efficiencies over 
the next two years.  That will sort out the workforce mix between permanent staff and police officers. 

 
Mr Rogers: Are there any uniformed officers in HR or finance? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: We have some, I think, still. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Uniformed officers would be involved in training roles that are 
attached to the human resources department.  I cannot think of any uniformed officers who are 
involved in HR-type management duties.  Generally speaking, they are not the skills of police officers. 
 
Mr Rogers: Paragraph 3.5 of the report contains comments from the PSNI's paper on the increasing 
use of temporary staff and talks about it getting out of control, and so on.  Chief Constable, what 
action did you take to address the concerns highlighted in your own workforce strategy? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Do you mean in relation to this particular period? 
 
Mr Rogers: Yes. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I understand that the result of that was reissued guidance to those making 
those decisions locally, and a strengthening of that guidance as to the criteria they should be 
following.  It did not lead to a recentralisation.  It was a reassertion of guidance response.  Again, my 
predecessor was quite anxious not to run the risk of compromising one of the key Patten 
recommendations. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: On a point of clarity, if I may, Chairperson.  Paragraph 3.5 of the 
report states: 
 

"In the majority of departments, the total number of agency staff exceeds approved resource 
levels." 

 
It is important to point out that, as the footnote to figure 7 states: 
 

"Agency staff were deployed in police staff and police officer roles". 
 
So although it might have appeared that the number of agency staff exceeded the number of 
permanent staff vacancies, some of those agency staff were, in fact, employed in police officer 
vacancies, not police staff vacancies. 
 
Mr Rogers: Mr Pollock, did the Policing Board receive a copy of the workforce strategy report? 
 
Mr Pollock: Was that in 2008? 
 
Mr Rogers: It is the November 2007 report. 
 
Mr Pollock: I understand that it did. 
 
Mr Rogers: How did members react to its findings? 
 
Mr Pollock: I do not think that I can fully answer that because I have not researched that issue. 
 
Mr Rogers: It might be a good idea, Chair, to get that. 
 
The Chairperson: Is that OK, Mr Pollock? 
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Mr Pollock: Yes. 
 
Mr Copeland: Further to what Sean was saying, was the recruitment manager with delegated 
authority, who approved the contract variation, a uniformed officer? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: No.  She was a member of police staff. 
 
Mr Copeland: Was she employed full time or was she on a temporary contract? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: As I understand it, she is a full-time human resources manager. 
 
Mr Copeland: Could we get that confirmed? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Certainly. 
 
Mr McKay: Could you clarify the numbers in figure 7?  How many agency staff were deployed to 
officer roles?  Are those figures available?  That puts a different slant on things. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Sorry, I missed the question. 
 
The Chairperson: Figure 7 on page 23. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We can certainly provide that to the Committee. 
 
Mr McKay: Does the C&AG have a view on those figures?  Were you aware that there were question 
marks over them? 
 
Mr Kieran Donnelly (Northern Ireland Audit Office): There are no question marks over the integrity 
of the figures.  The total number of staff was in excess of the approved complement.  That is the real 
point that comes out in figure 7. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The first column is approved staffing complement.  My 
understanding of that is police staff as opposed to police officers.  The footnote clarifies: 
 

"Agency staff were deployed in police staff and police officer roles". 
 
The fact that the numbers of agency staff exceeds the number of vacancies or the numbers of 
permanent staff should not be a surprise, because some of them were occupying police officer 
vacancies as opposed to police staff vacancies. 
 
Mr McKay: I was looking at the figure for command, where the total staff is 228 and the approved 
staffing complement was 79·5.  Were you within or over the overall complement for the command 
level? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The agency staff employed at command level are employed 
almost exclusively in the legacy support unit, which is a part of the legal services department.  
Questions about that unit have been asked by the Policing Board, and full answers have been given 
on the number of staff who are ex-police and what their function is.  I highlight some positive 
comments that were made by the coroner in relation to that unit.  He said recently: 
 

"I have seen the very great efforts that have been made by the police lawyers to make sure that 
material has come to my attention, and I would have to say that it is only through their offices that 
this very important information has come to my attention.  If it hadn't been for the efforts of the 
police lawyers in digging up this material, then we wouldn't be here at all." 

 
That is from a recent legacy inquest.  It is important to recognise the work of those ex-police staff in 
uncovering material that services legacy inquests. 
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Mr McKay: I pick up from that that the overlap in command is mainly in staff roles as opposed to 
officer roles.  That begs a question about planning and the allocation of the staffing complement.  Why 
is that not built in?  It seems very disorganised and out of kilter. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Again, I can clarify that.  We now know that legacy inquests and 
other legacy matters will not be short-term issues.  We did not establish the posts, but we now 
recognise that we are going to have to establish them.  We are moving to open competition.  We will 
be advertising shortly, and we will be looking to recruit people, on a full-time basis, with a legal 
background, whether it is paralegals or people who have other legal experience, to work in that legacy 
area.  That will be going to open competition very shortly.  That is a longer-term sustainable plan that 
is part of the figure towards the end of the report that talks about how we are managing our reliance 
on agency staff and associate staff. 
 
Mr Pollock: I can confirm that, on 8 January 2009, the board's human resource committee received a 
presentation on the PSNI strategy, and, in June 2009, it approved a revised PSNI people strategy.  
So, yes, the board received it and was properly engaged in consultation about it. 
 
Mr Clarke: Daithí asked a question, and Judith answered it.  It was a point well made, and I 
appreciate Judith's observation on figure 7.  I indicated, before Judith said that, that there are two 
points in relation to that.  We are still scrutinising a report from the Northern Ireland Audit Office, and I 
should maybe address my question to the Comptroller and Auditor General.  Why has there not been 
a more sufficient breakdown of the approved staffing complement versus staff and police officers?  
There seems to be a failing in the report on that aspect.   
 
The other point is that a letter from the Police Service was tabled today, and it was referred to by the 
Chairperson at the start of the meeting.  We seem to have overlooked the issue of the employment of 
language transcribers.  Given that that should not really be included as part of the inquiry, in your 
opinion, would that not skew the overall figures on the outcomes? 

 
Mr Donnelly: I will take both those questions.  I agree that it would be helpful to have a more detailed 
breakdown, and I am sure that a breakdown of column 1 could be obtained to show approved staffing 
complement between the two categories.  Secondly, I am sure that it is possible to remodel the figures 
with the translators who moved.  I do not think that it is hugely material, but it would have some 
bearing on it.  That issue transpired just as the report was published. 
 
Mr Clarke: When were you first made aware of that? 
 
Mr Donnelly: I think that it was — I could double check — the day that the report came out.  It was the 
evening before. 
 
Mr Clarke: Maybe I missed it, but I am not aware that that was raised last week.  Was it?  To the best 
of my knowledge, there was a discussion, and some people were quite jovial about the fact that we 
had English language transcribers in the police and that it was part of the agency recruitment process.  
However, if you knew at that stage, why did you not make us aware last week? 
 
The Committee Clerk: It was included in the briefing last week, and the letter had not arrived from the 
Chief Constable until the Committee was already in its waiting room.  It was tabled today in your pack 
and mentioned in matters arising. 
 
Mr Clarke: I appreciate that it is tabled today.  The Audit Office was at the table last week, and we had 
an opportunity to ask questions.  Given that the Audit Office, which commissioned the report, was in 
receipt of the information about the English language transcribers and, as I said, was fairly jovial about 
the fact that people are employed by the police to do that, why did it not make it known last 
Wednesday? 
 
Mr Donnelly: We did make it known. 
 
The Committee Clerk: We got the letter subsequently, but the Audit Office briefed the Committee on 
it. 
 
Mr Clarke: I was there for the duration of the meeting, and I was certainly not aware.  I take the 
Comptroller and Auditor General's point that it may make a small difference to the figures, but much of 
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the focus last week was on page 23, figure 7 about the number of permanent staff versus the 
approved complement.  It is difficult, given that we are in public session today, for me to accept what 
you say, Kieran, given that any difference could make that discrepancy negligible, if not diminish it 
entirely.  So, given that the Audit Office did the report and given the role that it has to play, it is 
unfortunate that it did not pick that up when compiling the report.  It gives me the flavour that I had last 
week that there are failings in the report, and, as I said earlier, my presumption, although some 
members may be offended by it, is that there is a perception to skew it one way to make it look 
particularly bad for the police in hiring agency staff. 
 
The Chairperson: Can I just come in on that, Mr Clarke?  I understand that it was the PSNI that 
provided the information to the Audit Office at that time.  The information was inaccurate, so why was 
that not spotted before it was handed over?  That question could perhaps be put to Mr Baggott. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: My understanding is that the information was provided by Grafton, not by 
the PSNI. 
 
Mr Clarke: So, does that mean that it came to the Audit Office from Grafton? 
 
Mr Donnelly: It came from Grafton, but it was cleared for factual accuracy with the PSNI.  Such 
clearing happens with all our reports, and this one went through exactly the same process.  So, it was 
that no one concerned noticed before the report was published. 
 
Mr Clarke: We are focusing on the English language transcribers.  Leaving that aside, I am trying to 
focus on figure 7 at the moment, which relates to the staff complement.  Surely when it was compiling 
its report, the Audit Office was in receipt of the relevant information that could give us the breakdown 
of the approved staffing complement versus, as the Deputy Chief Constable described, the two 
categories.  It is incredible that that has not been included in this report. 
 
Mr Donnelly: Had the PSNI asked for such a breakdown, I would have been more than happy to 
include it. 
 
The Chairperson: My understanding is that — 
 
Mr Clarke: I am sorry for interrupting, Chair, but my problem here is that we are scrutinising a report 
by the Audit Office.  Neil Gray was here last week and made much mention of the details in figure 7 of 
the approved staff complement.  If the Audit Office had provided, in the right manner, the breakdown 
for the two different types of staff that we are talking about, the difference between the approved staff 
complement and the number of staff would be much greater.  So, I think that, by not including that in 
the report, the Audit Office has failed miserably. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Clarke, our job here today is to scrutinise the witnesses that are at the end of 
the table.  If you believe that there is an issue with the Audit Office report, that is something that we 
can discuss as a Committee, maybe next week. 
 
Mr Clarke: Chairperson, with the greatest respect, other members have spoken.  Indeed, the Deputy 
Chairperson spoke earlier, and he asked Fiona Hamill a question — no disrespect to him; I think that 
he was quite right to do that — but she is not sitting at the bottom of the table.  Someone else referred 
to the Comptroller and Auditor General, so I am just taking the same privilege that you have afforded 
others.  That is why I am doing that. 
 
The Chairperson: I am allowing you that privilege, but we can discuss the matter next week if that 
information is not here today. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: For confirmation, I want to put on record that we worked very 
constructively with the Northern Ireland Audit Office on this report.  We had a significant amount of 
correspondence, challenge and conversations.  We asked whether it would be possible to put further 
detail in, and a footnote was added on our behalf subsequently that said that that number included 
police posts.  I would be very happy to work with the Audit Office in adding the detail to that, but the 
addition of the footnote, which states that agency staff were deployed in police staff and police officer 
roles, came as a result of a request from us.  We would be very happy to work on adding the figures, if 
that is what the Public Accounts Committee wants us to do. 
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Mr Clarke: Would you not find it useful to have a separate column in there to give us a clear vision?  
Footnotes are useful for total anoraks who want to read documents inside out and upside down, but if 
another column had been added to figure 7, that is the one that most people would have taken the 
quickest glance at.  Would you agree or disagree that it would have been useful to have it in that part 
of the report? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It would be useful to clarify those figures.  Again, to some degree, the 
lessons are historical, because we have now moved off the rigidity of 7,500 and are planning ahead.  
However, where the report, some of the dilemmas and what was going on behind the scenes are 
concerned, I think that it would be helpful to have that. 
 
Mr Copeland: This is a mechanical point more than anything else.  I am trying to get a grasp on what 
we are actually talking about when we talk about agency staff.  You could have one post, which is 
filled, but let us be ridiculous and say that 12 different people filled it over one year.  Does that then 
appear as 12 agency staff or one post?  In other words, can the figures be blipped by people moving 
in and out of posts?  Not everybody would have been engaged for five or six years.  Some of them 
must have been in post for six months.  How is that accounted for?  In other words, could the figures 
appear artificially large? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: We would have to clarify that with the Audit Office.  Forgive me; I 
understand the question, but I do not have the answer. 
 
Mr Copeland: I understand, but it would be useful to assess whether we are talking about posts or 
people, because there is a difference. 
 
Mr Rogers: To go back to your clarification about the PSNI's workforce strategy, Mr Pollock, you 
mentioned that you received a report in 2009.  Did the Policing Board receive the workforce strategy of 
November 2007? 
 
Mr Pollock: My understanding from the research that I have done is that the Deputy Chief Constable 
made presentations to the board.  It may have been the board or it may have been the human 
resources committee, but I can see where information on the strategy was provided. 
 
Mr Rogers: It would be useful if you could clarify that and go to the board — 
 
Mr Pollock: I will do that. 
 
Mr McQuillan: Thanks very much, Chair.  It was worth the wait.  Paragraph 2.1 states that temporary 
workers account for 7% of the workforce, and it says later in the same paragraph that that figure is 
now down to 4%.  In 2007, at the height of the use of those workers, the figure was running at 7%.  
Can you clarify whether that is 7% of the total workforce or 7% of the temporary workforce? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is 7% of the total workforce. 
 
Mr McQuillan: Seven per cent of the total workforce? 
 
Chief Constable Matt Baggott: Yes — 
 
Mr McQuillan: That is counting everybody who is employed by the PSNI? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes.  That is the temporary workforce against the whole establishment. 
 
Mr McQuillan: Paragraph 3.6 states that many temporary staff were being employed without a proper 
evaluation of the post to ensure that posts were correctly graded or that there was sufficient work to 
constitute a full-time post.  When a review was undertaken in the criminal justice department in 2009, 
it was found that over half the posts were overgraded and that staff were, therefore, being overpaid.  
Did that not set alarm bells ringing? 
 
Chief Constable Matt Baggott: The answer is that it would have done, but it was an internal piece of 
self-criticism and self-challenge.  So, that finding was revealed by an internal review.  It was not done 
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externally, which I think is important, as it reassures the Committee that there were processes in place 
to regrade and check.  I do not think that you could take that situation and then spread it across the 
whole organisation as something that would be unique, because this was a moment in time in the 
criminal justice department. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is important to say that, in 2009, we undertook a 
comprehensive review of every single post in the Police Service of Northern Ireland.  It was called a 
resource-to-risk process, and it was overseen by Assistant Chief Constable Dave Jones.  We looked 
at every post and assessed whether they were essential, necessary and desirable, and each post was 
reviewed to see whether a police officer or a member of police staff needed to be in post and whether 
the grade at which the post was ranked — either staff or police — was assessed, reviewed and, in 
some cases, downgraded.   
 
The criminal justice department review was part of that, and it went across the whole service.  As a 
result, we came up with our human resource model, which was submitted to the Policing Board and to 
Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary for scrutiny.  HMIC's assessment was that, although we 
were at an early stage in our planning, we were as fit for purpose and as well ahead as we could be, 
or, in some cases, we were further ahead than many of our UK force counterparts. 

 
Mr McQuillan: Do you disagree with the report when it states that this was completely "out of control" 
in 2007? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think that the issue was that there was no central mechanism or central 
grip, and the comments, which I repeated, are the words of the Audit Office.  However, it is very clear 
from our internal review that things started to run away.  We have to acknowledge that.  It is about 
reasserting some degree of central grip, as we have done.  The report acknowledges that there has 
been significant improvement in that area.  I would not want to get into the semantics, but it was very 
clear that numbers had risen, and our people raised concerns about the justification not being tight 
enough. 
 
Mr McQuillan: Could you also tell us how the process for grading a vacant post and approving the 
rate of pay is carried out?  Is it different now to what it was then? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Absolutely.  Now there is a process by which the business case, 
which has to be a sound, evidenced business case, is submitted through the head of human 
resources in the relevant department or district.  It then goes to a central committee called the 
resourcing forum, which is co-chaired by Assistant Chief Constable Dave Jones and the director of 
human resources, Joe Stewart.  That business case is assessed against organisational need, not 
departmental or district need.  We have a much firmer grip and central, corporate and consistent 
control across the organisation over whether the associate staff are the right model to deliver the piece 
of work that is needed.  There is also a monitoring process.  If the business case were, for example, 
for a piece of work that lasts three months, at the end of those three months, the process will evaluate 
whether the piece of work is completed, whether the business case delivered what it set out to do and 
whether the associate staff have finished their work and left the organisation.  So, there is much 
greater central control and grip. 
 
Mr McQuillan: In paragraph 3.10 — you alluded to this in response to Trevor's point a wee while ago 
— some of the information that the C&AG needed for the review had to be obtained from Grafton.  
The PSNI did not have it at all.  A £100 million contract was handed out to Grafton, but you had no 
proper control of that contract.  Does that not also set the alarm bells ringing? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think that the report is quite encouraging in that it talks about the work 
that has been done to address and tighten up on contract management.  As, I think, the deputy 
mentioned, we have trained in the region of over 600 people in proper contract management, in how 
to build indicators and in how to assess the success of a contract.  So, there has been an 
organisational response to the issue.  Some of the recommendations are still a work in progress.  If 
there are issues that we can still do on recommendation 5 to standardise, analyse and collect more 
and better data, we are certainly prepared to do that. 
 
Mr McQuillan: I agree to disagree with the deputy, who said that the restructuring was a success.  I 
am not so sure; I am not convinced yet.  You will have to do a wee bit more work to convince me. 
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Mr Copeland: I want to go back to the job evaluation.  A need to fill a particular position was 
identified.  What was sent to the recruitment agency that meant that it matched the individual, who 
may or may not be on its books, to that need?  When that person was in position and it became clear 
that they were going to be there for a while, and the person whom the recruitment agency recruited 
suddenly thought that it was a wee bit beyond what they were being asked for, was there a 
methodology by which a job re-evaluation could take place?  Was that funnelled through the 
recruitment agency or the person in post?  Was it a common occurrence? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is now, but it was not as rigorous as it ought to have been in 
previous years.  I said that I would share with the Committee, if it would be helpful, a copy of the 
request for a Grafton associate and what a typical business case might look like.  That might help to 
answer some of your questions.  We have much more rigorous scrutiny now. 
 
Mr Copeland: I do not want to be specific about Grafton, because I know that others are involved, but 
did it play any role in assessing anything for the purposes of job evaluation, such as what you might 
have to pay to get the skills that you were looking for? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am not sure of the answer to that question. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am not sure.  We will come back to you on that.  I do not know the 
answer to that; forgive me. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: The whole relationship with Grafton interests and perturbs me at the same 
time.  In a broad sense, if it has the contract, it is not surprising that retirees — if I could describe them 
as that — who were interested in being employed on a temporary basis or being rehired in whatever 
capacity would gravitate towards Grafton.  To me, it is not surprising that, in 2008, it won a competitive 
tendering exercise.  I suppose that might be described as a business advantage, which is not unique 
to Grafton.  However, Patten concluded at the time of his report that the RUC was unrepresentative.  If 
we have a labour pool from which temporary staff are to be drawn and if the people who are re-hired 
from that pool are former RUC, that means that the imbalance in representing the community, which 
was a fundamental, core element of Patten, would be reflected in that labour pool.  I have been 
mulling over my question since it came up earlier, because I do not think that it has been properly 
addressed, but does that issue not surely spell out in neon signs that drawing from that labour pool 
means that there is an equality impact?  How could that not have been responded to? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We can see that now.  We ought to have spotted it earlier, but we 
did not.  As I said earlier, and as I said last week at the Policing Board, I am keen, as are the rest of 
my PSNI executive colleagues, to address this issue going forward and to ensure that we have a 
human resource model that is fair, equal and representative of the community that we serve.  So, I 
have suggested and offered, with the board's help and that of the Equality Commission, that all this be 
reviewed so that we can make sure that our human resourcing model — police officers, police staff, 
managed services and temporary staff — is as diverse and fair as it can possibly be.  I cannot, as I 
said earlier, do what should have been done 10 years ago, but we can move forward in the spirit of 
understanding and partnership together so that we can make this better.   
 
I fully accept your point that if we were drawing from a pool of retired RUC officers, it was likely to be 
from a particular community, of a particular gender and of a particular race.  Of course that would be 
the case.  Did that have a material impact on the composition of the PSNI?  Yes, but let us move 
forward and address it. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: That is a very fair answer; let me acknowledge that.   
 
Mr Perry, we have been told that there may be legal implications in how we could monitor the 
workforce, whether we are talking about people who are being re-hired having full-time or temporary 
posts.  Is that an issue that the Department needs to address, perhaps by looking at the law and the 
legal requirements? 

 
Mr Perry: It is something that the Department would be certainly very interested in.  I think that it will 
fall to the police in the first instance to get that legal advice and to do so in consultation with the board.  
However, given the Department's overview, it is certainly something that is of interest. 
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Chief Constable Baggott: I really appreciate the question, because it goes to the nub of 
accountability as well, and I am 100% behind what Judith said.  I do not want to underestimate the 
difficulties of doing this even now, because I have been involved over a number of years in a different 
place and in a different context with the line between positive action and positive discrimination, the 
impact of employment law and how far you could go.  I am very pleased to be, and I keep saying this, 
audacious in providing the information that can help us to shape our policies.  Looking at everything 
from apprenticeship schemes right through to targeted campaigns, we will be able to do a lot more 
work if we can get that information together.  However, positive discrimination versus positive action 
has been a debate for about 10 years, and I think that we have an opportunity with this to try to nail it 
down and do something that might be unique on behalf of the Police Service here. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Without affirmative action, we probably would have had an impossible task 
in trying to restructure policing, but we have made, as I said, quite remarkable progress.  So, let us 
stay on that course. 
 
Mr Clarke: I appreciate where Mitchel was going with that, but I have a difficulty with the equality 
aspect of this situation.  Although Mitchel is saying that there is an inequality in the spirit of Patten, that 
report set aside equality legislation with 50:50 recruitment.  So, it is very difficult to address equality by 
setting it aside, because the spirit of Patten was to set aside specific legislation and introduce an 
inequality with 50:50 recruitment.  That said, I have no problem with one's community background — 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: It is called affirmative action, and it is quite well known as a concept.  
However, I know that there is an issue. 
 
Mr Clarke: Rather than go across each other on that, we could go back to some of the points that 
Patten made.  Although the spirit of Patten was 50:50 recruitment, I think that we have to appreciate 
that equality legislation was set aside to allow that to happen.  That was wrong, but we are where we 
are. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: We would not be where we are. 
 
Mr Clarke: We would maybe be in a better place; you would not know. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: We have been there. 
 
Mr Clarke: The idea that I have a problem with is that some people — I am not directing this at 
Mitchel — can pick pieces of Patten but we cannot put it all together.  So, the point is taken, but we 
have set equality legislation aside to make overall police recruitment work, because the real issue in 
Patten was the police and not so much the support services.  However, you are suggesting that there 
is now an inequality in seeking a community balance in the community support services, based on 
religious background.  Another good example of that is the Equality Commission, which cannot even 
get it right, because there is an imbalance against the Protestant/unionist community.  So, it is difficult 
getting the police to get it right whenever the Equality Commission cannot get it right. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I can respond to that.  As I said, we want the whole service to be 
representative of the community that we serve.  That includes the police, permanent staff, temporary 
staff and managed services.  It is also important to say that the majority of the 175 recommendations 
in the Patten report were identified in an earlier fundamental review, which was led by Sir Ronnie 
Flanagan of the Royal Ulster Constabulary, in which we acknowledged openly that we were not 
representative of the community that we serve and that something radical had to be done.  
Representation was about not just community background but gender.  Patten did not set any target 
on female recruitment, but, as we all know, a rising tide lifts all boats, and we now have a rate of 27% 
females, which compares favourably with any service across the United Kingdom and, indeed, with 
our colleagues in an Garda Síochána.   
 
We need to take that seriously, and we want to be representative right across the ambit of our human 
resources model.  We want to work with the board and the Equality Commission to take whatever 
action we need to take legally to be lawfully audacious and to have affirmative action that supports 
people who want to join the PSNI in whatever guise and, indeed, the wider criminal justice system.  
We also want to retain those officers and staff who we have all worked so hard together to bring in to 
the organisation.  That is equally important. 
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Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me, but my point is about process and legality.  With the Policing 
Board, we have put confidence right at the heart of who we are.  Confidence is a product of how you 
keep people safe, of the quality of service when they have a moment of crisis in their life and of how 
people look at the organisation to see whether it is representative.  All three aspects are important, 
and the success that we are having at the moment in reducing crime, getting into vulnerable 
communities and dealing with vulnerability by invitation is because confidence matters significantly to 
us.  So, we will not hide behind any legality in developing that confidence; clearly, we have to comply 
with the law, because that is also one of our duties. 
 
Mr Clarke: I do not want anyone to think differently about my opinion on this.  I support the merit 
principle and not selection based on one's community background.  However, if that is the direction in 
which others are travelling, so may it be.  However, I have one word of caution for Judith:  please do 
not follow the Equality Commission as a model, given that it cannot get it right itself. 
 
Mr Pollock: I support what is being said.  I sense no lack of resolve.  In fact, there is a real 
determination by the board to work with the PSNI.  The report is a watershed, and it brings a very 
specific focus that is very helpful, and the recommendations are particularly helpful.  However, it is not 
just about community background; it is about gender and young people who are in very economically 
deprived areas who feel unable to get involved with the justice system and the policing framework.  
There is a lot to be done, and it will not happen overnight. 
 
The Chairperson: Any strategy coming forward that reaches out to those groups is very welcome.  
 
Before I call Daithí McKay, I remind members that there are four members to speak after him. It is 
almost 6.00 pm, so we need to keep moving. 

 
Mr McKay: My questions focus on accountability and conflicts of interest.  I will start with a quick 
quote from the Police Ombudsman's five-year review, in which he states: 
 

"no such regulations exist in relation to ... other civilian staff operating directly in conjunction Police 
Officers in the course of their policing functions.  In certain circumstances actions by such staff 
could have a direct effect on the exercise of a police duty or ... a police enquiry." 

 
So, the Police Ombudsman has warned of the risks from retired police officers, who are not 
accountable, being rehired in policing roles, including sensitive positions.  Do you agree with his 
position that there is a risk there? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes I do, and, again, I think that the Policing Board scrutiny has been very 
helpful.  I just happen to have a copy of the new agreement that we have put into the associate staff 
confidentiality agreement.  That states: 
 

"You also agree and co-operate with all statutory agencies, including the Police Ombudsman's 
Office". 

 
So, that is now a contractual requirement.  Whether it would withstand a legal test is another matter, 
but we built it in to the contract.  
 
Secondly, I am on record as saying that if the Executive were to pass legislation compelling people to 
co-operate with ombudsman's enquiries, I would certainly stand behind that fully. 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: May I also clarify that there are two separate issues here?  There 
is the issue of the accountability of permanent police staff to the Northern Ireland Civil Service code of 
ethics, and that of police officers, who are accountable to the PSNI code of ethics.  Certain categories 
of permanent police staff are designated as accountable to the ombudsman's office.  I am sure that 
Sam is even more across the detail of this than any of us here, but there are only certain categories, 
and I know that it frustrates both us and the ombudsman that you have to be designated in a particular 
role to be accountable to the Police Ombudsman.  Such roles generally involve positions in which you 
exercise pseudo-police powers, such as, for example, custody detention officers, etc.  We would 
certainly welcome widening the scope of the ombudsman's office, but, again, that would have to be 
done in consultation with police staff associations — the unions — which are bound by the Civil 
Service code of conduct.  So, there are two separate issues.  We have tidied up the temporary staff 
issue, but the issue of permanent staff still possibly needs a bit of tidying up. 
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Mr McKay: Just to clarify, does that apply to all the contracts for temporary staff — that is, all staff on 
a temporary basis — with the result that it is prospective for all? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes; this is a generic agreement that is reached with individuals. 
 
Mr McKay: OK.  When does that apply from? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is in effect now. 
 
Mr McKay: Figure 8 shows us what actions the police have taken on retiring officers in co-operation 
with the Police Ombudsman.  We referred to that previously.  Have there been any examples of police 
terminating the contract of a retired then rehired officer because he or she refused to co-operate with 
the ombudsman's office? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I do not have an answer to that, I am afraid.  I can try to find out and come 
back to you. 
 
Mr McKay: OK. I am aware that the ombudsman raised in a number of reports the issue of rehired 
personnel. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me; I think that there are two issues here.  One is that officers who 
retire have their own decisions to make; they cannot be compelled.  People who come back on a 
contract, of course, can.  By signing the contract, they agree to do that, and if they did not, there would 
be a consequence. 
 
Mr McKay: There are concerns about the conflict of interest element.  The Committee has received 
correspondence from the Committee on the Administration of Justice about its concerns about this 
and, for example, article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights.  The Audit Office report 
states that there is the potential for conflicts of interest.  The PSNI responded by stating that 
safeguards are in place because those who are involved in HET can ask to remove themselves from 
an enquiry in which they have previously been involved.  How many examples have there been where 
retired officers have brought to the attention of the PSNI that they are involved in a case in which they 
have a conflict of interest? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will have to come back to the Committee.  I can ask HET for those 
details, and I will come back to you on that. 
 
Mr McKay: Do you have any idea at all of whether there have been any? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I am afraid that I do not.  The Historical Enquiries Team has been running 
for some seven years now, so I will have to go back and research those details for you. 
 
Mr McKay: There have been news reports in the past couple of weeks about members of the police 
support staff, with NIPSA, wanting to bring information before the Policing Board about the rehiring of 
retired police officers.  It is alleged that they were warned by senior PSNI staff not to do so.  Is that 
correct? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Not as far as I am aware.  There was correspondence between NIPSA 
and the director of HR around that, but there is no evidence that they have been prevented from 
coming before the Policing Board.  It is their right to do that, and that is a matter for the Policing Board.  
The disagreement was more about the sharing of the intent to do that and making sure that the details 
were factual, as opposed to an attempt to prevent them from doing that. 
 
Mr McKay: Could we have a copy of that correspondence between NIPSA and the director of human 
resources? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: If the records exist.  If I am able to do so legally, and it is not private 
correspondence, I will make it available. 
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Mr McKay: Obviously, the Policing Board is a critical element of accountability.  It has a statutory duty 
to hold the Chief Constable to account. There are concerns in the report and other soundings that the 
relationship, in some ways, has been strained.  Sam referred to the fact that this report is a watershed 
in some respects.  How has the relationship been over the past decade?  Has it been damaged by 
some of the findings in the report? 
 
Mr Pollock: There is a fine balance in the relationship.  The Chief Constable is employed and 
delegated to run his service.  The board cannot and should not interfere in the command and control 
responsibilities of the Chief Constable; it does that at its peril.  On the other hand, as I indicated 
earlier, there is a massive statutory duty on the board to maintain public scrutiny and ensure that the 
Chief Constable is accountable and answerable to the board for performance, conduct and delivering 
an effective service in the reduction or prevention of crime. 
 
That relationship — bear in mind that the board was a new entity — has been developing over 10 
years; it gets more and more mature, and the checks and balances get more and more refined.  The 
report is a watershed because, although it focuses very specifically on human resource staffing 
issues, it goes to the centre of the delivery of service and performance.  The board will have to 
address those concerns.  Equally, the board must ensure that it retains a governance responsibility, as 
distinct from trying to micromanage the service through the Chief Constable.  Although I have been in 
post for only a short time, I am very optimistic that that working relationship can be taken forward into 
a new domain.  There have been difficulties in the past with regard to the exchange of information, 
particularly on human resource issues; my sight of it would give the indication that it was quite minimal 
and economical at times.  More information, given in a more open and transparent manner, would 
have allayed a lot of fears and a lot of the issues that kept creeping and creeping, to the point at which 
a lack of confidence or distrust developed. 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: The relationship should be constructive, but never comfortable.  
Otherwise, there is no point in being held accountable.  That is very important.  The meetings take 
place monthly, and we have private meetings and a whole raft of committees.  We are talking about 
over £700 million of public money and huge issues of people coming together in a post-devolution 
settlement, and we have to make that work.  I do not expect the meetings ever to be comfortable, 
although I do expect them to be constructive.  We are working through some quite complicated 
matters that, occasionally, are prickly, but they are necessary.  They are around the post-devolution 
architecture, understanding again the distinct roles and responsibilities within that.  There are certain 
matters on which I am accountable to the Policing Board and some that I am not.  There are some 
matters that I am able to give and some that I cannot.  At the moment, we are working through in a 
constructive way with the Policing Board, again revising the codes from 2004 and 2008 and some of 
the legal framework.  It is necessary to have clarity.  Sometimes, the Policing Board will ask me for 
issues that I am simply unable to give.  Sometimes, the Policing Board may say that it needs to set up 
a special purposes committee to hear that information, but, again, we have moved on from that.  
These are not easy issues, but the encouragement should be that they are being worked through, and 
we are doing that.  We do need to be held accountable in a way that is correct and legal, so this is an 
interesting and important debate. 
 
Mr McKay: Previously, I served on the Policing Board, and there was constructive engagement with a 
number of senior officers.  It is good to see that those relationships are continuing on the board.  I was 
concerned about a report of the board meeting from last week that showed that one of the 
independent members had serious concerns about how she was treated.  Moving forward, those 
niggly issues of concern that seem to have been going on for quite a period of time need to be ironed 
out, and I do not think that we are far off from doing that.  If the will is there on all sides, we can 
address those issues. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is very encouraging.  With accountability, there has to be clarity 
around mutual responsibilities, and I understand that, at a public board meeting, things are sometimes 
said for a variety of reasons.  Sometimes those are for political reasons, and, sometimes, they are 
absolutely right about my responsibilities.  We understand that entirely.  It is helpful to repeat 
something that I said earlier.  It might be useful to commission an independent audit of the sort of 
information that was provided to the Policing Board and at what time, to see whether we could 
improve and see where there is some best practice.  There has been criticism of this, but I have seen 
some of the timelines, and I do not think that it is quite as simplistic as it is sometimes portrayed.  We 
need to understand that more.  Likewise, if Policing Board members have concerns about the way in 
which we conduct ourselves and the tone and language that we use — some of that was publicly said 
— of course I will invite those Policing Board members to give me an account of that so that, if I need 
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to advise the Policing Board on how to take that forward, we are able to do that.  A constructive 
relationship is developing on this, and I am very positive about where this is going. 
 
The Chairperson: The remarks from Mr McKay and you are very relevant.  Mr Trevor Clarke has 
kindly allowed Mr Sydney Anderson in before him, so we are moving the goalposts a wee bit. 
 
Mr Anderson: Thank you, everyone, for coming along.  You probably think that, at this time in the 
proceedings, there are not many questions left, but I am sure that there are quite a few.  I will make a 
general comment on the reorganisation of policing before I ask my questions.  We have to remember 
that there has been a massive change in the organisation and in relation to staff.  To my mind and 
everyone else's mind, no matter what organisation was to go down that road with that type of change, 
there was always going to be blips along the way.  We have to view it in that context.  Comment has 
been made today and outside of this Committee meeting in the media about witch-hunts and things 
like that and the way things have been going.  People have concerns about how things are happening, 
but I would like to think that that is not what it is all about.  These are jobs, and they are individuals 
who have given good service to policing in the RUC.  If they come back and are re-employed to do 
another job, we have to recognise for them and their families that they are doing a job for the 
community.  That is where I am coming from on that particular issue.  If, in some cases, things were 
not done right, they can be put right.  We can see a way forward here.  Things have been explained 
and have come out in the open today.   
 
We talk about the revolving door.  Judith, I think that you said that there was good reason for that.  
You cited one good case for why a particular officer had to come back.  I am sure that there are other 
cases of that.  Therefore, we have to look at policing in the whole context of what went before what we 
have now and at those officers as individuals and their families.   
 
Figure 18 shows the that PSNI appeared to make very limited use of schemes that were available to it 
to defer the retirements of key officers.  Paragraph 5.15 makes it clear that the PSNI did not do any 
succession planning for key posts because it had difficulty and issues with that.  If you put those two 
factors together, it appears to me that the PSNI, perhaps, did not do enough to manage the situation 
that arose as a result of the Patten reforms.  There may be very good reasons for that.  I am interested 
to hear your reply.   
 
Any reasonable approach would have tried to identify and certainly limit the number of key people who 
were retiring at any one time and give them time to pass on their knowledge to other officers and 
enable them to fill those posts.  Why did the PSNI not take advantage of the systems and tools that it 
had in position at that time?  Bear in mind that the big — I think in one year maybe there were 750 
officers who left.  It was in 2002, or something around then.  I am taking that issue in the round of the 
mass exodus of officers at any one time. 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: First, I think that some of the ways to mitigate that were limited.  The red 
circling was only 70 in a year, which, against the organisational scale, is a very tiny number.   
 
Secondly, it was a voluntary scheme.  Although, clearly, predictive planning was done to try to work 
through the numbers of staff who might leave, at the end of the day, it was voluntary.  Therefore, 
actually getting a grip of the numbers — I am very clear that the Patten programme was a process of 
moving to 50:50 recruitment; it was not actually an operational plan.  Therefore, it did not actually 
predict and take into account what the operational impact might be on capabilities.  Those are the 
main reasons.   
 
I come at it with the benefit of hindsight and being able to look at it objectively.  I honestly cannot 
imagine how difficult that was to plan.  If I had been the Chief Constable during that period, I think that 
it would have been incredibly difficult.  You would have had to have some reliance on temporary staff 
to mitigate that in the short term, particularly when you add in the budgetary uncertainty of 2007.  The 
Deputy Chief Constable has already outlined how the plans for 400 PCSOs had to be shelved, not 
because of any risk, but because the affordability of that simply could not be predicted.  Therefore, 
they were very difficult times. 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We used the red-circling facility as much as we could.  Officers 
also deferred retirement voluntarily, in some cases, for a year when there was no financial impediment 
to doing so.  That was used in the maximum number of cases that we could.   
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I refer you to figure 2 in the Audit Office report.  You will see it on page 10.  During the time of the 
Patten severance programme, 14 assistant chief constables, 92 chief superintendents, 150 
superintendents, and 133 chief inspectors — 389 senior officers — left the service.  Those are not 
senior officers that you can replace overnight, in a year or, indeed, in two years.  There needed to be a 
significant programme to fill those spaces with people who were experienced and qualified to occupy 
those ranks.   
 
So, yes, with the benefit of hindsight, might we have done things differently or better?  Of course.  
However, I go back to Mitchel's comment that with such a seismic change programme, it would have 
been a miracle if we had got through it with perfection.  Are we a perfect organisation?  Of course we 
are not.  We are human beings.  Policing is a human endeavour, as I have said many times.  We 
could have done things better, but, frankly, I do not know any organisation in UK policing, in European 
policing, and, arguably, in the world of policing, that has gone through such seismic change and still 
delivered performance, still kept people safe, still succeeded in cutting crime, still increased 
community confidence, still reduced complaints against the police and still increased clearances.  
There are certain things that we can say we could have done better.  I mentioned the crime operations 
loss of skills, and, in particular, in 2005-06, we lost 894 officers, and that was halfway through the 
change programme.  Losing 894 experienced officers is a massive loss to any organisation. 

 
Mr Anderson: Judith, quite honestly, that is what I wanted to hear you explain today.  I knew the 
reasons myself, and no organisation could lose that expertise and experience and continue to deliver 
good policing and keep the safety of the community and property and everything in our country here.  
That has to be admired, and I will openly say that here today.  I am not here to carry out a witch-hunt 
or to bash the police.  I have a good realisation of what you had to come through and how that was 
achieved.   
 
Chief Constable, you talked about red-circling.  Was that a very small percentage — about 5% — at 
any one time?  Was that in the terms of the settlement or was it just something that was agreed? 

 
Mr Perry: It was set by the Treasury. 
 
Mr Anderson: So, you were really restricted.  You had nowhere to go.  I do not think that is getting out 
as to why you needed expertise coming in with agency staff to do specific roles.  That is something 
that needed to be clarified, and you have clarified that today. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Sorry to interrupt you, but I also want to clarify one other point.  
The prize in all this was achieving 30% Catholic composition of the Police Service.  Remember that it 
was a voluntary severance programme, and if we had significantly delayed the number of senior ex-
RUC officers who were departing under severance, that would have had a material impact on the prize 
of 30% Catholic composition.  Let us not lose sight of that. 
 
Mr Anderson: Do you agree that demands to implement Patten were coming from certain quarters to 
push you down the road to meet targets to get this implemented?  That, along with the restriction on 
red-circling, put you into that position where you had nowhere to go other than to seek this agency 
type of recruitment in the way that it was done at that time to ensure that good policing was delivered? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: There was a real desire on all our parts to be representative of 
the whole community right across the spectrum.  We have talked about community background but 
also gender and race.  We are becoming a much more diverse society in Northern Ireland, and it is 
important that, as a police service, the community can see a reflection of their face in our face.  
Therefore, it was not just about the community background issue, albeit that there was a real political 
interest in meeting the 30% Catholic recruitment target, and we met that.  Actually, we slightly 
exceeded it.  We can all be very proud of that and proud of the fact that young Catholic men and 
women were prepared to step forward, at not insignificant risk in some cases, to join the PSNI.  We 
could point to examples where young Catholic men and women have been targeted as a result of that 
decision.  Therefore, the fact that we met that target was extremely significant and very welcome right 
across the organisation.  I would not want anybody thinking that we just did it because we were under 
political pressure.  We did it because it was the right thing to do. 
 
Mr Anderson: Did your HR department come under severe pressure at that time?  Did it have difficult 
issues that normal HR departments would not have to face?  Fingers could be pointed at HR in 
respect of the way that things were done or not done, but what you are explaining here today is that 
they may have been in a difficult place at that time. 
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Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I was there at the time, and I mentioned earlier that there were 
80,000 transactions involving appointment, transfer, promotion or retirement of police officers and 
staff.  I think that any HR department, even the most perfect ones — and I do not think there is such a 
thing — would have creaked under the strain of that pressure. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I come at this from an independent view looking back, and the changes 
were phenomenal.  In my 36 years of policing, I do not think I have ever seen any police service 
undergo such a radical turnover of senior people — as well as junior colleagues, but it is the senior 
people who provide the leadership.  The HR department must have been working incredibly hard.  I 
will come back to the point that was made earlier.  Under regularity and propriety, there is no evidence 
of any breach in that.  There was value for money achieved.  In relation to the corporate grip, we have 
already accepted that the justification mechanism corporately was not strong enough when it got to 
2007.  There is a perception out there, and we have to be mindful of that.  That is the work that the 
deputy is taking forward on equality, and we are very open about that.  There has been a need to 
improve the accountability of individuals.  That is a current debate, and all of that is right.   
 
Just to say finally on that, I cannot see any signs going back that anybody lost sight of the primary 
objective, which is to keep people safe.  Forgive me for being frank about this, but when I came to the 
PSNI, I thought that I would find human rights as something that people were taught but that sat on a 
wall.  I have to say that every part of decision-making includes the overriding responsibility to protect 
people and keep them safe.  That is an article 2 consideration, which, in terms of the workforce mix, if 
you have a department that is falling over because it does not have sufficient people, you will bring in 
temporary staff to do that.  That is what I see in that devolved decision-making model:  keeping 
policing going under enormous churn because there is an article 2 responsibility to protect people.   
 
Part of the benefit we have now of reducing crime and being able to work in some of the more difficult 
and disadvantaged areas is simply because Patten has delivered a high degree of confidence as well.  
Therefore, we are in a much better place now, but I will not pretend that, for colleagues at the time, it 
was anything other than tough.  I know them and they are friends of mine, and they have talked me 
through some of their experiences of trying to manage all those dilemmas during a time of enormous 
change. 

 
Mr Anderson: You said that the corporate grip was not strong enough.  Are we now in a position 
where it is? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I will refer you to the report.  It talks about significant improvements, but, 
again, we have benefited from a culture in the PSNI of willingness to self-challenge.  The critical 
comments in the report come from internal documents.  They come from self-challenge.  The strategic 
policing review in 2009, which hit the headlines as something wrong with the PSNI, was an enormous 
piece of self-challenge.  We are open to the Policing Board in a way that I have never experienced 
before, both publicly and privately, in terms of challenge.  The governance arrangements are better 
because with devolution has come four-year planning, a reinvestment of money and the ability to 
manage the workforce better.  We asked for that, and we got it.  We are held accountable as this new 
team for having a grip of the business, and we have introduced a whole raft of things that I will not 
bore you with now, but they are auditable in terms of a new policing plan, more people on the streets, 
better technology, four-year planning, bringing in experts and working on accountability.  There is a list 
as long as your arm of things that we have been able to do together because of the prize of 
devolution. 
 
Mr Anderson: Thank you for that.  Case study F refers to an officer who was not a temporary worker 
employed under the Grafton contracts.  I think he was employed on a consultancy basis.  You told us 
that that was for a specific issue.  Were there many cases like that? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Sorry, I missed the question.  Forgive me. 
 
Mr Anderson: Case study F, on page 43. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Can I come back with the detail on that?  Forgive me, but I do not have the 
exact facts with me.  This is a fully justified post. 
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Mr Anderson: I picked up somewhere that it is probably a post that was not red-circled.  It had a 
specific task and needed specific expertise. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is quite critical to the coroner's work, and the deputy gave you some of 
the feedback from the coroner on that. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The contract, in this case, finishes in May 2013.  So, there is an 
end game.  However, if your question is how many people we have — 
 
Mr Anderson: There are not many. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We are happy to give those details to the Committee, if that is 
helpful. 
 
Mr Clarke: I have a couple of questions arising from what Sydney asked.  I think back to last week 
when we spoke to the Audit Office about this report.  You talk about the experience that you lost, and 
nobody can underestimate the amount of experience that was lost so quickly, given that big change.  
Once someone leaves the service, they become a civilian.  It does not matter whether they are rehired 
because they were a former officer; that is getting lost in a lot of the report.  When you look for a job 
today, one of the things they talk about is desirable qualities and criteria.  Given the experience loss in 
the organisation so quickly — I am directing that at you, but you were not there at the time — would 
you have felt, if you had been in the position you are today, that it would have been desirable to rehire 
people who had the experience?   
 
Some others want to call it a revolving door, but that is the wrong terminology, because a scheme was 
set up to reduce the force to this magical figure of 7,500.  It was not necessarily thought out, because 
there was a gap in experience, and no one considered how to fill the vacuum of all that loss of 
experience over the years.  I am really asking a direct question to you, Matt.  If you had been in post at 
the time, would you not have thought it desirable to rehire people who had the experience?  The wider 
public have to get their head round this also.  Some of the officers came back in on a considerably 
lower amount of money than they were paid when they were police officers.  The press sometimes 
skews reports to force the story into the media that it is a revolving door.  They say that an inspector 
left one afternoon and came back in the next day at the same pay grade.  That is certainly not the 
case.  They were rehired on the same scale as any other civilian.  Is that not right? 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is right. 
 
Mr Clarke: If you had been in post at the time, would you have thought it desirable to rehire ex-police 
officers given the experience that they brought in the interim until you got those positions filled 
properly? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: It is inevitable in modern policing that you might have to add policing skills 
for a short term.  Some of that is because you cannot predict the nature of organised crime threats.  
For example, in 2007, nobody predicted that we would have a paramilitary challenge again, but that 
has been significant, and the support that I have had from the Executive in additional money and 
making sure that that money is sustainable over four years has been utterly critical.  Without that, we 
would have probably had to withdraw from policing with the community, which is the great strength of 
policing.  We have been able to add to that rather than withdraw from it.  Part of that has involved the 
careful use of temporary staff for short-term work, whether that is investigative, dealing with threats, 
dealing with child abuse or back record conversion.  You might want to bring in temporary staff for a 
specific period of time for a range of tasks because you cannot afford them for the long term because 
of the budgetary uncertainty.   
 
I come back to this point, though:  we are in a different place now where we have an opportunity to 
have a far tighter grip over the justification for this, and we now understand more the implications of it.  
I suspect that all my colleagues, probably including Martin Callinan in the South, are having to grapple 
with the inability to plan for the long term because of recession alongside a change in the crime 
environment and things that you did not expect, such as new responsibilities for the Police Service.  
We now have responsibilities for dealing with public protection, and we did not have that before.  We 
have to deal with sex offenders coming out of prison, let alone putting them in prison.  Our 
responsibilities and the threats have grown, but the budget has shrunk, and we cannot predict for the 
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long term.  Part of the solution involves the justified use of temporary staff, but it has to be limited and 
justified. 

 
Mr Clarke: I appreciate your point, and any right-thinking person would accept that.  I will go back to 
the report again in relation to that same question — and I did ask the Audit Office this last week.  Are 
you familiar with being asked whether it would have been desirable that the people who were rehired 
had previous experience?  Given the descriptions of the jobs and the roles, I would have thought that 
an opportunity had been lost because the experience was lost so quickly.  When compiling this report, 
did the Northern Ireland Audit Office ask you whether there was any suggestion that it would have 
been more desirable to rehire previously employed police officers? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I do not think that the question was put in that way.  We have given 
explanations as to why certain posts were filled.  I do not think that the question was framed to us in 
that way. 
 
Mr Clarke: I ask because I framed it that way last week.  Neil is here.  He may want to answer it 
today, Chairperson, if you will permit it. 
 
The Chairperson: Yes, if Neil wants to answer. 
 
Mr Neil Gray (Northern Ireland Audit Office): Sorry, what is the question? 
 
Mr Clarke: I raised it with you last week, and the question is this:  why was there not a breakdown of 
whether it was desirable that some of the civilian staff who were formerly police officers were rehired? 
 
Mr Gray: As the Chief Constable said, in certain cases, it was quite obvious that policing skills would 
be necessary.  There are a number of posts in crime operations, criminal justice, etc. 
 
Mr Clarke: My question is this:  did you ask for a breakdown? 
 
Mr Gray: Yes. 
 
Mr Clarke: You did? 
 
Mr Gray: A breakdown of each and every post? 
 
Mr Clarke: Yes. 
 
Mr Gray: That could not be provided, because we are looking at — 
 
Mr Clarke: It could not be provided if you did not ask. 
 
Mr Gray: It could not be provided because we were dealing with over 2,000 posts down the years, 
many of which did not have a job specification or a job description.  Therefore, it is very difficult to go 
back over a period of 10 years and justify each individual job.  I am sure that you appreciate that. 
 
Mr Clarke: Actually, I do not because when I asked you last week, you said that the information was 
not provided.  That is my recollection of what took place last week.  My point is that it would have been 
useful to include such information in the report.  I am not putting words in Neil's mouth, but if he needs 
information, it is up to him to ask the question.  The police might suggest at that stage that they could 
not provide the information because there were over 2,000 people.  However, I am picking up from 
what Neil said that he has answered on behalf of the police.  From what I have taken from the Chief 
Constable, the police were never asked that particular question. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Forgive me, but I am not sure that I fully understand the point that 
you are getting at.  Figure 14 in the Audit Office report is quite helpful in highlighting the positions held 
by temporary workers where policing skills were required.  You can see, not surprisingly, that there 
was a preponderance for temporary workers to occupy posts such as assistant investigators, 
intelligence officers and investigators.  In the case of assistant investigators, 91% were Patten 
retirees; 97% in the case of intelligence officers; and 99% in the case of investigators.  We should not 



52 

be surprised by that, because those were vacancies that required police experience, but not the 
others. 
 
Mr Clarke: I am not taking away from that.  However, for me, figure 14 does not work as well as 
others that use statistics to show the numbers of officers who were re-employed.  Figure 13, for 
example, shows that there were 14 assistant chief constables, but none of those was re-employed.  
What I am saying is that a table with a specific number of the officers who were re-employed, for 
whom experience would have been a desirable criterion for them to be re-employed, would be better 
than one showing an overall number of days worked.  I think that that is hidden.  To me, the way in 
which that has been presented hides the fact, if the police have been asked the question in the way in 
which I framed it last week, which was this:  in terms of the sum of people coming back, what was the 
number for whom it would have been desirable that they had knowledge of the particular job as 
opposed to someone coming in off the street?  What we have here is something hidden in hours as 
opposed to showing the number of those individuals. 
 
The Chairperson: Can I bring Neil back in to respond to that? 
 
Mr Gray: I can only respond in similar terms, Trevor.  We are dealing with 2,740 folk who have been in 
over 10 years.  Now, when I ask the PSNI whether it has job specs for all those and it says that it does 
not, it is difficult to go back over 10 years and make a decision about whether each post needed 
particular policing skills and whether the individual who occupied each post was the best person for 
the job.  Frankly, I did not attempt to do that over the course of quite a limited time in which to produce 
this report. 
 
Mr Clarke: I just want to tie this down:  were the job descriptions asked for? 
 
The Chairperson: Yes, they were. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me; I do not possess that detail.  Perhaps one of my colleagues 
can help?  They were not.  OK. 
 
Mr Clarke: Sorry, what was that? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I understand that they were not. 
 
The Chairperson: Please speak through the Chair.  I am afraid that we cannot really have people 
contributing from the gallery, Mr Baggott.  Just to confirm that for you. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me; I was trying to clarify the point. 
 
Mr Clarke: You now have the information?  Sorry, what was it? 
 
The Chairperson: I think that we can get that in writing.  Is that possible? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes, that is fine.  We will do it in writing. 
 
Mr Clarke: Did I pick it up that you were not asked? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: In keeping with protocol, I probably need to go through the Chair and reply 
to that in writing. 
 
The Chairperson: Through the Chair, you are not allowed to correspond with anybody in the Public 
Gallery, and I would appreciate your observing the protocols — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Forgive me; I am trying to clarify — 
 
The Chairperson: — so, the request — 
 
Mr Clarke: For the benefit of all who did not pick it up:  it seems like they did not get that information. 
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The Chairperson: — if it is there, can we get that information in writing? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: If you ask the question, we will give you the answer in writing, yes.  
Forgive me, as I am cutting across the business of colleagues in the Audit Office here, but I just 
probably need to say that, in the trends and the numbers, figures 13 and 14 provide a sense that 
police officer posts were being filled in the right way by a high percentage of former police skills.  
Other posts, which did not necessarily need police skills but might have required a degree of 
competence, were filled to a lesser degree, which shows that members of the public were coming in 
and filling them.  You can see the distinct trends in relation to that and the scale of the churn that was 
going on.   
 
Although I am happy to answer the questions, I am not so sure whether there would be any benefit in 
trawling through 2,000-something job descriptions.  That would be potentially very resource intensive 
for me, and I would have to deploy quite a significant number of people to do that.  The operational 
issue for me is that the report confirms to me that our governance arrangements have significantly 
improved, and if there was an issue, it has now been resolved.  I just invite you to think about whether 
there is the necessity to do that, because I am not sure that that would be practical. 

 
Mr Clarke: First, you could get some agency workers in to do that wee piece of work for you, but 
make sure that they are not ex-police.  The problem that I have is that the media — although you do 
not listen to them as much as some of us have to — have focused on the number of re-employed 
police officers and the number who were just civilians.  What they have not focused on is the fact that 
some of those ex-police officers were rehired to positions for which it would have been desirable to 
hire former police officers.  The report is not pulling that out.  It may turn out that it would not be 
reflective of that, but I assume that it would, given the service of the people who left quickly when 
Patten was initiated.  That led, on your own admission and on that of many people, to a lot of 
experience being lost fairly quickly.  So, I think that it would have been important for this report to 
clarify whether it was desirable for the majority of posts to have been filled by people with policing 
experience.  That is why I think that the figures would be useful. 
 
The Chairperson: OK.  Mr Gray? 
 
Mr Clarke: I am disappointed that the Audit Office did not ask for that. 
 
Mr Girvan: It is suffice to say that 61% of the people who were employed through an agency had no 
previous police experience. 
 
The Chairperson: OK; thank you.  Mr Gray wants to come back in again.  Sorry, Kieran. 
 
Mr Donnelly: I want to make the general point that we did make the point very strongly in the report 
that police skills were necessary for many of these posts.  The difficulty was in trying to get a 
quantitative handle on it.  I have to say that it was impossible, given the quality of management 
information that we were working with. 
 
Mr Clarke: I accept what Kieran is saying, but we seem to have a variance in opinion here in that one 
is saying that they asked and the other that they did not.  To me, that again brings that aspect of the 
report into question. 
 
The Chairperson: Again, we have the opportunity to seek and will get written confirmation on that 
from C&AG. 
 
Mr Clarke: My question is for Nick.  You seem to have escaped today.  Under the official rules that 
are aimed at curtailing the amounts that retired public servants can earn if they return to public 
service, normally, if a retired public servant is re-employed they cannot earn more than their original 
salary when their pension and new salary are combined.  Are you aware of that rule? 
 
Mr Perry: Yes. 
 
Mr Clarke: To bring this word "equality" in, that was set aside under Patten.  So, you are familiar with 
that rule. 
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Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Sorry, what was set aside? 
 
Mr Clarke: Anyone else who had retired from the public sector and had received a severance 
package could not earn more than their original salary when their pension and their new salary were 
combined.  That was set aside for Patten.  You have all said that that was a good thing, so nothing 
wrong was done on that.  Someone whom we talked about earlier was critical of the report this week 
and went on to do some greater things.  I imagine that he is probably very pleased that that allowed 
him to work for the Assets Recovery Agency and do other things, because he has done reasonably 
well out of that if you add the two amounts together.  I was just making the observation that you were 
aware of that.  It is only a comment. 
 
The Chairperson: Do you have a question? 
 
Mr Clarke: No. 
 
Mr Copeland: I will ask about one small thing on the fringes.  Figure 8 refers to a temporary worker or 
an associate who had their security clearance revoked.  I am not sure whether they were a former 
police officer or not.  Were all temporary workers, who will have been required to be security vetted to 
take up these positions, security vetted, or was there an assumption that people were clear because 
of the previous service if they left on a Friday and came back on a Monday? 
 
Mr Pollock: I verify that they were required to go through vetting by Grafton. 
 
Mr Copeland: By Grafton? 
 
Mr Pollock: The security vetting organisation did the vetting, but it was part of the recruitment by 
Grafton that they would be vetted. 
 
Mr Copeland: Were they vetted to the same standard as a police officer? 
 
Mr Pollock: Yes, it is in the interests of the safety of the Police Service. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The level of vetting depended on the role.  In some specific 
cases, a higher level of vetting was required.  In every case, a level of vetting was required.  The 
public would expect that.  We would not want sex offenders, and so on, working in the Police Service.  
A level of vetting had to be undertaken. 
 
Mr Copeland: Was there a timescale that that took?  Recently, I have had difficulties getting stuff back 
from Access NI.  Was there a delay? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am not aware of vetting being a material factor, although, in 
some cases, when we needed people of a higher vetting standard in temporary positions, staff who 
had already been vetted to that standard would have been an attractive proposition, speaking 
pragmatically, for the organisation to take on board if there was a short-term piece of work that needed 
to be done immediately.  That will not have been the case in the majority of these cases. 
 
The Chairperson: Mr Baggott, I will refer to something that is not in the report but which we discussed 
at last week's Committee meeting.  I appreciate that you might not have the information at hand.  I 
understand that an officer can only apply for an injury-on-duty award, which relates to injuries received 
at any time during an officer's service, once retired and that the award is based on the officer's 
reduced capacity to work and is, effectively, an enhancement to an officer's pension and lump sum.  
Under the Patten severance arrangements, an officer had to sign a declaration stating that they were 
fit for work to qualify for the package and the pension arrangement.  If you have the information, can 
you tell me how many officers who retired under the Patten arrangements declaring themselves fit for 
work subsequently received an injury-on-duty award?  I am in no way questioning anyone who has 
received damages for injury.  That is not the intent of the question. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: The process is overseen by the Policing Board.  I will certainly try to 
provide the figures to you, but I am afraid that I am unaware of what those figures might be. 
 
Mr Pollock: We will provide the information to you, Chair. 
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Chief Constable Baggott: It is a Policing Board matter; it oversees that process. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I want to tease out the issue of the revolving door and the argument, which 
clearly has some validity, about the need to replace or retain essential policing skills.  We have heard 
the stories, particularly the one about the officer who was investigating the road crash.  It is a very 
pertinent, if tragic, example for us to consider.  It simply demonstrates that, even in the most 
comprehensive change management regime, you cannot anticipate every set of circumstances.   
 
If we go to figure 12 on page 33, we see that there was a revolving door; I do not know how else to 
describe it.  Two people were employed as associates before they even left the PSNI, and 19 returned 
within a day.  In total, 256 were back under various roles within three months of leaving.  There have 
been enough questions on how that could happen.  Explanations, in individual circumstances, have 
been given for how it could happen and why it happened.  There is also reference to the fact that 
mistakes were made.  If you were dealing with the situation today, what would you do differently? 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: By way of context and in the interests of fairness, figure 12 gives out the 
exact numbers coming back and the timescale.  Clearly, some came back very quickly.  The vast 
majority came back having had a year's break.  However we define "revolving door", they came back, 
but the numbers of those who left and came back within weeks are relatively small.  The deputy has 
some detail on the posts that were filled.  It would be easy to take the figures as almost a snapshot of 
a single year.  It is not; it is over quite a significant period of time.  We need to put that in the context of 
the years of the Patten period that this applies to.  If you do that, the numbers become somewhat 
fewer.   
 
What would I do differently?  I would do what we are doing now, which is to be more centralist.  That 
has not been without challenge within the PSNI and outside, because the spirit of Patten has always 
been about decision-making at the lowest possible level.  We have exercised a far greater degree of 
corporate grip around the policing plan and outcomes.  In the new appraisal scheme, every senior 
officer has an objective to provide value for money.  We assess how they use their resources in a very 
different way.  We have been able to implement a far greater degree of corporate governance.  The 
star chamber approach — if I can put it that way — that we use holds people accountable for a far 
greater degree of justification.  I am not going to be critical of my colleagues who went before; as I 
said, their imperative was to fulfil every Patten recommendation to the letter.  Part of that was having a 
regime in which decisions, resources and ownership were at the lowest possible level.  When that 
came to be a problem in 2007, they decided that the interests of getting to the devolution of policing 
and justice in confidence outweighed a greater degree of central control.  I probably might well have 
done the same, but we have a far greater grip today. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: The bald statistic — I am trying to be very fair — is that one in five retirees 
under Patten came back in one role or another.  That is one of the difficulties in explaining that that 
reflected what Patten intended.  The reason I was asking what you would do differently was to give 
you an opportunity to indicate whether we had got into the groove of using Grafton, whose labour pool 
was drawn from retirees, or whether we were advertising widely and canvassing other police services.  
Looking for the skills for the gap that we were attempting to fill meant that we could look in fairly 
specialised areas.  Is all that now built into the methodology?  It could be a different agency, or it could 
be Grafton, given that it seems to have the market cornered.  Are we always going to go back to it? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: The current contract is due for renewal.  It is with the Justice Department, 
but it is on hold at the moment, while we take into account what is said at this meeting and any 
feedback that we have.  I think that it is right to do that.  We need to look at this report and learn 
lessons.  We have a managed service contract, which has just been taken out.  It was also won.  It 
was presented to the Policing Board in a very thorough presentation, and it was very constructively 
received.  That is more about the management of functions.   
 
We will need to have some temporary staff going forward.  Some of our additional funding is short 
term.  Without being political, my expectation is that, next year, when we start talking about the next 
comprehensive spending review, it will be very difficult for me to commit significantly to bringing in 
permanent staff or even increasing our establishment of police officers over the long term until we 
know what the budget clarity will be.  However, you can be assured that we have much tighter scrutiny 
and the star chamber approach works very well.  To some degree, it is causing me pressure because 
we have reduced significantly the amount of temporary staff under the deputy's leadership.  We have 
been questioning everything, and, to be frank, gaps are starting to appear. 
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Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: The point that you made, and, where I was trying to be fair, I did not include 
people who were recruited after a year because it is very difficult for me to understand how it could be 
an essential skill if you could go back after a year to hire somebody.  I do not understand why that 
could not have been broadened out.  I can see the argument for hiring somebody the next day.  That 
speaks to me of an urgent need not to allow a skills gap to open up, but rehiring a Patten retiree after 
12 months does not seem to fit that category.  That is why I did not hit you with that question, but you 
invited it. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is a consequence of the process of employing a contractor to find you 
people. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Exactly. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: As you said, if people are in the labour market and they sign up to that, it is 
a consequence of the process.  The question is very valid, and it is whether you could deal with this in 
a different way by issuing more permanent staff contracts or directly recruiting people into the 
organisation.  I think that is difficult because the value for money arguments made in the report and 
the savings by doing it through a contractor are also facts that need to be taken into consideration.  
However, it is a very valid challenge.   
 
Across the UK and across European policing, I see an increasing use of temporary contracts.  I see an 
increasing use of the private sector coming in and taking over policing functions.  That has raised a 
whole raft of questions, which, in fairness to our Policing Board, it was ahead of.  How do you hold 
these people accountable?  Can you justify every post?  Is the essence of policing changing because 
you are bringing in commercial concerns rather than people who have signed up to the code of ethics?  
I am not trying to confuse the issue, but they are really difficult dilemmas that range from 
accountability through to value for money through to actually delivering operational capability.   
 
My sense at the moment is that I think that we have got the balance about right now because of the 
four-year planning regime and what we have achieved.  The critical issues are about a far greater 
degree of transparency and accountability.  I would probably throw into the pot that what I need in 
return is a bit more pragmatism in relation to this, particularly since the governance is tightened.  That 
is a very personal take on that.  However, I think that the balance is about right at the moment.  I do 
not fear the here and now; it is about going on from next year.   
 
Patten envisaged 7,500 police officers — 2,500 part-timers and the permanent staff — in a peacetime 
scenario.  I am at 7,100 or so.  The numbers are dropping dramatically at the moment.  I have to use 
temporary staff to fill some of that, even in spite of the scrutiny.  I have just let a new managed service 
contract, which has the Policing Board's approval.  That has been very welcome, but, next year, we 
get into a renegotiation of money, a significant amount of which has been bolted on.  At the moment, 
that is preserving our policing with the community.   
 
So, we will have to grapple with that.  It will be a tough one.  I think that we will be using temporary 
staff under a far greater degree of control.  I think that we will be using managed services in a way.  
We have enhanced some of the accountability around that.  However, the big issue for the Policing 
Board working with me is how we will sustain the current high level of performance when the money 
and numbers have dropped and it gets tighter.  That is a very real dilemma. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: On that basis, I presume that you would not actually defend the fact that 
96% of the staff hours that were required of safety camera operators were provided by Patten retirees.  
For drivers, the figure is 85%. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: To some degree, I can, because that is an investigative function and not 
simply a camera-operator function.  It is an evidential function as well. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It is important to remind ourselves that many ex-police officers 
who came back as temporary staff did not actually occupy posts that required police skills.  They were 
recruited through an agency.  We asked for drivers, safety camera operators, and so on.  Some of the 
folk who came back to work in those roles were ex-police officers. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Eighty-five per cent? 
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Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Looking at that with the benefit of hindsight, it is hard to stand 
over it.  Many of the folk who are temporary staff worked previously as safety camera operators.  I 
speak entirely frankly when I say that there was a convenience about that because those staff could 
step into the role very quickly and needed minimal training.  Actually, it is my understanding that, to 
occupy that role, you need pretty minimal training anyway.  Therefore, it is hard for us to justify that 
preponderance of ex-police officers in those roles.  I absolutely concede that.  However, it was 
pragmatic and convenient. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I will not concede it, but I can understand it.  I can see how it could happen.  
I appreciate that you have addressed the point very directly.   
 
Another issue in the argument about essential skills perturbs me.  Let us take a look at figure 14 on 
page 35.  Judith, you have already referred to the investigators, assistant investigators and 
intelligence officers.  In the table that we have in front of us, I see that the "p" in brackets denotes that 
policing skills are required.  What interests me is that, in a case that is before the courts, a barrister 
representing the PSNI told the court that PSNI associates are not involved as investigators.  An 
anomaly, if that is the correct description, or a contradiction exists that needs to be addressed.  It is for 
all today's witnesses to explain that because it flies in the face of the explanation that has been offered 
about why so many Patten retirees have been brought back. 

 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I will take that.  Perhaps, the accurate description of the 
investigators is "assistant investigators".  I look to the Audit Office.  I am pretty confident that that is the 
role that they occupy at present.   
 
However, given all the points that have been made about public confidence, especially in those 
particular roles, I want to assure the Committee that we have a plan to manage out the majority of 
those folk through a more sustainable human resources model that will rely on permanent posts.  In 
the case of intelligence officers, we are recruiting trainee intelligence officers.  I referred to the change 
in direction.  Previously, we went to the board in 2006 and got its approval to recruit police officers 
straight into the crime operations department rather than them having to go through all the hoops of 
being detectives first.  We have a cadre of trainee intelligence officers who are about to be appointed 
into the crime operations department and who come from the PSNI.  That is very important.   
 
I also assure the Committee that we have a new cadre of trainee intelligence support officers coming 
in who are from our existing cadre of police staff.  Again, we are retraining our existing police staff to 
take up those posts permanently.  We are almost in the horns of a dilemma.  We say that we need to 
replace essential skills temporarily with associate staff.  However, at any stage, those same associate 
staff could walk away and leave us in the same breach that we are in with the lack of experience.  We 
need a more sustainable, longer-term human resource plan, which is what we have developed in 
consultation with the board.  We are taking that forward.  We have a select list of people to draw off as 
a result of an open competition in the organisation. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I would like to hear what the Department and the board have to say. 
 
Mr Perry: Do you mean about the particular roles that are being used? 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: I would like to hear about the respective roles of the police, the Department 
of Justice and the Policing Board in continuing to manage the process of change and ironing out the 
anomalies that have emerged. 
 
Mr Perry: It is not for the Department to tell the Chief Constable who the police should employ or, in 
the case of temporary staff, where they should be deployed.  That is an operational decision for the 
PSNI, overseen by the board.  Our oversight is at the strategic level of expenditure on particular 
categories and areas.  Obviously, we have a general interest, as we referred to earlier, in confidence 
in policing.  We look primarily to the engagement between the Chief Constable and the Policing Board 
to sustain that.  If we can help in any way, we will, and if we are asked to help, we will.  The detail of 
particular posts and particular individuals with specific backgrounds is a matter for the police. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: It is not fair to press that too far with you, but I ask you to reflect on that.  We 
have identified some genuine issues with the limited testing of the market for possible recruits and the 
whole issue of an equality impact assessment.  If we are going to change that in future, the 
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Department should have some kind of authority in those responsibilities.  I would appreciate it if you 
would reflect some more on my question to see whether the Department could do more than just what 
immediately occurs to help us all to manage our way through.  I am in no way impinging on the 
operational independence, but I do not accept that this issue is protected by that particular necessary 
procedure. 
 
Mr Perry: I will certainly reflect on that. 
 
Mr Pollock: The formal mechanism is that the board must conceive a long-term corporate plan within 
which the Chief Constable's policing plan fits.  The consultation that will go on with the community to 
establish local targets and indicators is where the interface needs to really matter. 
 
We are now 10 years post Patten, and a body of new staff in the PSNI is developing experience and 
skills.  They should be moving on and being promoted.  The importance of having succession planning 
and having a sustainable strategy for your key posts is now much easier to attain than it was in the 
first years, in which there was unbelievable dislocation or upheaval for an organisation to lose so 
many people so quickly and to be bringing in recruits at such a level.  We now have a situation in 
which the board can engage constructively with the Chief Constable and his staff to develop long-term 
strategies that will stand against the economic pressures as well as the changing crime environment 
and the changing scope and capacity of the PSNI.  I would advise the board to give that interface and 
consultation process maximum priority, to make it very visible and to engage in consultation with the 
community and the PSNI.  The board should use the representativeness of its members to bring the 
very best quality to those strategies.  As I said earlier, the report helps us focus on the key areas 
where resource planning needs to improve and to be consolidated in a very positive manner. 

 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: To qualify for Patten, you had to be transferred to the PSNI from the RUC 
before 1995.  Is that the threshold? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: It was a combination of age and service, and points were 
allocated by adding together your age and your service in days. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Thanks for that.  We are almost 20 years into that process, and the 
arguments about skills sets have to be addressed in that context.  The question, which we hope to 
resolve, about whether there were job specifications is part of what has to be gathered up from all this 
so that those kinds of situations will not arise in the future.  As time moves on, some of those issues 
are being resolved for us, but we still face the challenge of ensuring that skills gaps do not open up.  I 
wish you all the luck in the world with that one. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I was going to invite you to get us some stable budgets over the next four 
years, but I think that that is beyond most people's gift to provide. 
 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin: Definitely.  Especially when you are dealing with welfare reform. 
 
Mr Dallat: Chairperson, could I be so bold as to ask:  has everybody finished asking their questions? 
 
The Chairperson: Michael Copeland has still to ask his. 
 
Mr Girvan: I want to go back to Mitchel's point about those who came back in.  My understanding of 
the agencies is that people put their CV in.  The peelers, or the officers, who were retiring will have 
said to one another, "Put your CV into Grafton and let it stay there."  At the end of the day, when a 
post becomes available, the agency will sift through the applications that it has.  That is the way it is.  
It is quite straightforward.  
 
Some of the posts have been identified as potentially full-time posts, and I am looking at when they 
convert from being temporary positions employed through Grafton.  I understand that you make a 
business case, and each post will have some job evaluation to see whether it is sustainable in the long 
term.  There was a process to do that.  I cannot remember the exact figures but, for example, there 
may have been 400 posts, and you indicated that you will try to get that number down to a couple of 
hundred full-time posts.  You have been given a window to do that in.  Will those people be appointed 
directly through your HR department or will you use the same process? 
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Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Some are likely to be appointed through open competition 
outside the PSNI and others through internal trawl, because, as we restructure and put into place our 
efficiency programme, which will release some back-office-type posts, those staff will need to be 
redeployed and will be available to apply for some of the more permanent posts.  It is not necessarily 
growth, but, in some cases, inevitably, it will be. 
 
Mr Girvan: That is not dissimilar to what happens in any other public sector organisation. 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is right. 
 
Mr Copeland: Chief Constable, case study G on page 44 indicates that an officer was retained for five 
years in a temporary capacity.  Is there any explanation for why it took that length of time to train a 
member of staff to undertake the role, which I understand was fairly specific? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I will not try to justify someone being appointed temporarily and 
being in post for five years, but it was because of a lot of the things that we have discussed, including 
the complexity of the human resource processes and the 80,000 human resource transactions.  This 
ex-inspector had been involved in the human resources department and came back to manage that 
process very successfully. There was an endgame to it of course; the contract ended. It was 
terminated in June 2011.  However, with the benefit of hindsight, could we have made that a fixed-
term contract that was available to someone outside the organisation?  Maybe so, but it would have 
taken them a long time to be trained up to operate the systems and understand our HR complexities, 
etc. That is the way that it was. 
 
Mr Copeland: Why was the post not red-circled? In other words, if his skills were so specific and he 
was so vital that — 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Red-circling only went as far as March 2011, anyway. 
 
Mr Copeland: So, it was gone at that stage? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: The Patten severance finished in March 2011. That boat had 
sailed. 
 
Mr Copeland: Thanks. At the end of the five and a half years, was the contract terminated? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: In June 2011, I believe. 
 
Mr Copeland: Who went on to fulfil the role that he had previously held? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am not sure that he was replaced. I think that the work was 
finished because the severance programme had come to an end, and the manager — 
 
Mr Copeland: So, he was largely involved in the severance programme? 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I believe so. 
 
Mr Copeland: OK.  Again, Chief Constable, it seems that before January 2011, in effect, not a great 
deal was being done to reduce the PSNI's reliance on agency staff.  Figure 19 of the report indicates 
the PSNI's current plan to replace the 399 agency staff that it had at the end of March 2012.  Of those, 
200 have become permanent posts, which, I suppose, is welcome in many ways.  How many agency 
staff do you intend to keep? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I would not want to give you a fixed figure on that because we have 
additional work coming down the track in relation to some of the legacy investigations. We will take a 
paper on that to the Policing Board in December.  To point out some of the dilemmas that we face, for 
example, we have major investigations, such as Bloody Sunday, which we are required to investigate 
thoroughly.  There are a lot of legacy issues for which we may need to have short-term contracts or 
some solution to.  Likewise, I cannot predict the budget settlement or the continuity of the extra money 
that came from the Executive to reduce the threat level from paramilitaries.  So, those are 
uncertainties.  
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Again, the assurance is that the mechanisms that are in place are very good and thorough, every post 
will be justified and there will transparency about that with the Policing Board so that it can scrutinise 
that as well. 

 
Mr Copeland: Thanks.  That leads me to my next point.  How will you ensure that those posts can be 
funded in a future that is dependent on your budget allocation?  However, generally, given the role 
fulfilled by these people — be they past officers or not — would it have been less expensive than 
keeping them in post as regular officers? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: Yes 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: Yes. 
 
Mr Copeland: So, no matter what question marks there might be around the mechanics, the actual 
job was done less expensively than it would have been if things had been left as they were, or — 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: That is right, and I would be heavily criticised by the Inspectorate of 
Constabulary in relation to some of its value-for-money reports — we have a current inspection being 
prepared by the Criminal Justice Inspection into modernisation — if we were not making use of all the 
managed services, temporary staff, some permanent staff recruitment and the whole mix of available 
resources and tools.  I cannot give you a figure, but, looking forward, there remains a value-for-money 
argument and pragmatism around this.  The key point is that it needs to be justified every time. 
 
Mr Copeland: So, in some ways, and despite the Committee's genuine and real concerns, would it be 
fair to say that the expenditure represented value for money, and that the availability of people who 
may or may not have known the job made it an option that, on balance, was understandable at the 
very least, even though it may have fallen foul of some procedural steps? 
 
Chief Constable Baggott: I think that would be the case if you could stand over every post and say 
that you are paying a rate that is cheaper; the value-for-money argument stands up.  I come back to 
the point, though, that I would not want to say that we could look back historically and stand over 
every single post, because the mechanisms were not in place to do that.  There was strong guidance.  
There was local oversight.  Clearly, however, the report shows that, in a relatively limited number of 
cases, people stayed too long where there was not the mechanism for reviewing those posts and their 
justification. 
 
Mr Copeland: It is just that, going back to the previous case about Inspector G, and I do not want be 
too specific, but it strikes me as odd that you have someone leaving a very specific post, with a CV 
that, presumably, indicates to a recruitment agency that he is the perfect man for the job before he 
leaves. That whole constellation of stellar movements came together within seven days.  I am not 
saying that that is wrong, but something looks terribly coincidental about it. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: I am not sure that it was coincidental.  Here was an individual 
with a very specific basket of skills that was pretty rare in the PSNI.  It was a unique set of 
circumstances, and we have all acknowledged the seismic change that was going on in the 
organisation.  It was a pragmatic solution to bring that individual back to manage a lot of that change, 
because he was very familiar with the IT processes and knew the organisation.  I am not trying to 
justify the fact that he was here for five years.  I cannot justify that. 
 
Mr Copeland: I am not either. 
 
Deputy Chief Constable Gillespie: We should have planned better. 
 
Mr Copeland: It is the doorstep. I presume that if he had wanted to continue, the only place where he 
could have gone would have been Grafton, because it was in possession of the contract. 
 
Mr Dallat: I assume that we are coming near the end.  As someone who has done this job for 14 
years or thereabouts, I have to say on the record that the witnesses that we have before us today 
have been entirely honest, frank and open in what they have said.  Our challenge now is to make best 
use of the Audit Office report, which the inquiry is based on, and ensure that we can produce a report 
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that is fit for purpose.  In doing that, we have to remind ourselves that we are members of the Public 
Accounts Committee first and put our politics after that.  That has been the tradition all along, and I 
hope that it remains that way.  I can go home tonight very satisfied that we had four witnesses in front 
of us who could not have been more transparent, and that if the recommendations that come out of 
the report are implemented, we are enhancing the Police Service of Northern Ireland and ensuring 
that the public get value for money.  That is, hopefully, what we are here for.  It is certainly what I am 
here for. 
 
The Chairperson: No other members have questions.  This has been a long and necessary session.  
The Department and the PSNI have to ensure that all public expenditure is proper and regular and can 
be justified in an open and transparent manner to this Committee and to the Policing Board.  Mr 
Baggott, you welcomed the report and highlighted the issues in it on which you had concerns.  Indeed, 
you welcomed the fact that it helped you along the way to, in a sense, get things in order.  Ms 
Gillespie alluded to the long-term human resource plan.  We welcome that and wish you well going 
into the future with it.   
 
I do not want to prejudge the Committee's deliberations.  The Committee will consider what has been 
heard and will report in due course.  However, as witnesses, you will understand that, at this stage, 
the Committee has not ruled out hearing more evidence in connection with this inquiry.  We did ask for 
a number of written responses, and we hope to get them in due course.  Thank you, Mr Perry, Mr 
Pollock, Mr Baggott and Ms Gillespie.  I thank the very patient members of the Public Gallery and the 
members of the Committee, for whom it has been a long two days.  I thank the C&AG and his team 
and Ms Hamill and the Clerks.  I thank Hansard for its coverage.  At times, it may have been difficult 
for Hansard staff to hear some members.  With the acoustics here, sometimes Hansard can hear 
people but members around the Table cannot.   
 
It is our job to uphold the checks and balances.  I think we all agree that that is what we are doing 
today.  We believe that equality is for all and that has come out of this meeting, and you yourselves 
and the PSNI acknowledged that. 
 
I thank you for coming.  It has been a long session, almost five-and-a-half hours.  I think you broke the 
Housing Executive's record of five hours.  Thank you very much. 

 
Chief Constable Baggott: Thank you very much, Chair. 


